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ABOUT LEE & MAN PAPER

Jiangsu Lee & Man
STRRIE X
(Changshu, & %)

Chongging Lee & Man

BEEX
(Yongchuan, 7 JI|)

Jiangxi Lee & Man
IFEEX

- A
(Jivjiang, 71.5T)

Guangdong Lee & Man W

RREX
(Hongmei, i 4§)

Dongguan Lee & Man
8 REEX

(Huangyong, % 5%)

B3 A 3 33 AR

i

PRODUCTS E

Kraft Linerboard A1 AR
Test Linerboard A0 AR

Vietnam Lee & Man % 4
R Coated Duplex Board B AR
(Hau Giang, 5 5T) White Top Linerboard AE4EA

"_ High Strength Corrugating Medium = 58 FLAB 54
Pulp N
Tissue Paper BER
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Guangdong Lee & Man

BEREX

Annual production 2.30 million tons of
capacity: paper
: 2308 MEAK

il i

Guangdong Lee & Man Paper

@Aarernngnsy

-

Dongguan Lee & Man
REEX

Annual production 590,000 tons of
capacity: paper
FERE 59 & A 4%

Dongguan Lee & Man Paper

Jiangsu Lee & Man
LRI X

Annual production 1.12 million tons of
capacity: paper
FERE - 1128 W4

Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper

Chongqing Lee & Man
BEEEX

Annual production 900,000 tons of paper,

capacity: 150,000 tons of pulp and
25,000 tons of tissue paper

FEB 90 S MEA - 158 WA
K 2.5 8 WA 1 A 4K

Chonggqing Lee & Man Paper

Jiangxi Lee & Man
IFEX

Annual production 320,000 tons of
capacity: paper
FER 328 WA
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

ATER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS £5E

Executive director HITES

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s jp (Chairman) RSk msnes v+ (LE)
Mr Lee Man Bun wmH (Chief Executive Officer) EOR G s aes(HEHTE)
Mr Kunihiko Kashima BEEACERE

Mr Li King Wai Ross EX S-S
Non-executive director FHITES

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gss s BRI E exmgs cTFHL
Mr Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman) FEEHTEFEE)
Independent non-executive director BYFHITES

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUR £

Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Daviesst 4

Mr Chau Shing Yim David JE) A S A

AUDIT COMMITTEE EZEEE

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman) BEREE(EFE)

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUREAE

Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies#t 4

Mr Yoshio Haga FEEHELE
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FNEESE

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman) AR A (T E)

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUREAE

Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Daviesst 4

Mr Kunihiko Kashima BEEACERE
NOMINATION COMMITTEE RELEES

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s jp (Chairman) TGk mxngs xvu+(LE)
Mr Kunihiko Kashima EEACERE

Mr Chau Shing Yim David BER S E

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony TRIREA

Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Daviesst 4
AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES RRERR

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond sss Jp BNk EpsmEs K THE
Mr Cheung Kwok Keung ok B9 58 5% 4

COMPANY SECRETARY AT ME

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung R A
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

RNEEH (FE)

REGISTERED OFFICE TR ER

Cricket Square Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681 P.O.Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111 Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL OFFICE B EE

5th Floor, Liven House ch

61-63 King Yip Street NEEBE

Kwun Tong WEE61-63%

Kowloon F#E R ESHE

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS FEAERRT

In Hong Kong and Macau: BEBRAM

Hang Seng Bank BARTT

Standard Chartered Bank BT IRTT

Citibank, N.A. TETEIRTT

HSBC EZRTT

DBS ERIRTT

In the PRC: HE

China Construction Bank PR ERRIRTT

Bank of China FEIERTT

Agricultural Bank of China FEIRERIT

AUDITOR B

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu =& o BEMRT SFTAEITT

Certified Public Accountants HEEE AP

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND FERMBFERZE
TRANSFER OFFICE

Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company Royal Bank of Canada Trust Company

(Cayman) Limited (Cayman) Limited

4th Floor, Royal Bank House, 4th Floor, Royal Bank House,

24 Shedden Road, George Town 24 Shedden Road, George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1110 Grand Cayman KY1-1110

Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR EBRRMBFERSE
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited FEEFELHRAA

Level 22 Hopewell Centre BB

183 Queen'’s Road East 2 REFR1835

Hong Kong AR L2218

WEBSITE pil

http://www.leemanpaper.com http://www.leemanpaper.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Profit Attributable to

Revenue Owners of the Company Total Assets
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBME

Nine
Year ended months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December 31 December
Bz 8Z12831H Bz
3A31BLEEE IE9fEA 12A31BILEE
2011 2012 2012 2013 2014
20114 20124 20124 20134 20145
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THT TET TET
RESULTS £
Revenue N 14,034,285 14,715,553 11,423,998 16,970,365 17,099,134
Profit before tax B& #54 BT &2 F 1,984,126 1,536,751 1,498,116 2,192,471 2,208,930
Income tax expense FIEHT & (136,147) (185,302) (177,098) (244,268) (304,536)
Profit for the year/period EE/HEEF 1,847,979 1,351,449 1,321,018 1,948,203 1,904,394
At 31 March At 31 December
®3A31H ®W12A318
2011 2012 2012 2013 2014
20114 20124 20124 20134 20145
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THT THT TET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ERER
Total assets BEE 23,074,465 26,741,033 27,608,776 31,194,706 34,736,820
Total liabilities BEF (10,774,652) (13,242,820) (13,010,586) (14,848,220) BNV FELEE])]
Net assets EEZE 12,299,813 13,498,213 14,598,190 16,346,486 17,476,984
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group recorded a total
sales volume of 5.06 million tons, a total revenue of HK$17.1 billion,
a full-year net profit of HK$1.9 billion, and a net profit per ton of
HK$376, maintaining an overall steady profit.

The production line of PM20 at Chongging industrial park with an
annual capacity of 320,000 tons began operation in July 2014. The
acquisition of the tissue business was also completed in November
2014. Such acquisition will provide the Group with an opportunity to
expand its paper products range and enter the tissue paper market. It
is in the interest of the Group to diversify its line of paper based
products and that this will in turn increase the revenue base of the
Group. As a paper manufacturer, the Group is in a position to take
advantage of its existing economies of scale to lower the costs of
manufacturing tissue paper products which will provide a more
competitive edge for marketing its tissue paper products. It is
expected that the tissue business in the future will contribute further
to the Group.

Given the buoyant development of the light industries in countries
such as Vietnam, Myanmar and Laos, the Group is also actively
investing overseas in the construction of paper factories to stay in line
with the expansion of the Southeast Asian markets. It is expected
that the paper machine project in Hau Giang, Vietnam will begin

operation in late 2015.

The paper industry was suffered from over capacity and paper price
pressure in recent years, but in the long run, the demand for
packaging papers in China will keep on increasing. At the same time,
more and more inferior production capacities will close due to the
tightened environmental protection regulations. It is believed that the
supply over demand situation for the paper industry will be further

improved.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFHmE (&)

Based on its consistent adoption of prudent strategies, and with a
reasonable debt level, the Group will continue to increase its capacity
in existing industrial parks and develop new industrial parks in
tandem with the pace of economic development. The management
of the Group will continue to make efforts to strictly control costs
and strengthen capital operation in order to maintain the Group’s
competitiveness in the paper industry. As the Chairman of the
Company, | will ensure that the Group’s business will continue under
the leadership of an experienced and capable management team,

with a view to further enhancing the Group'’s profitability.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Man Chun Raymond
Chairman

Hong Kong
9 March 2015

RREEERMRIZERRE  EEEREK
FELT SESHERQKQBERRIERER
BIXERMERNRABHIEER &
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BREMALBLEHRNEEER®E -
BRBEE 2 BN EE— R -

RREFS
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S

BB
2015%3A9R
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DA

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2014 was HK$17.1 billion and HK$1.9
billion respectively.

The Group maintained an overall steady profit and the total sales
volume increased to 5.06 million tons for the year and the average
net profits per ton of the products achieved at about HK$376 for the

year.

The basic earnings per share for the year was HK40.69 cents when
compared with HK41.51 cents for the year ended 31 December
2013.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

The Group's distribution and selling expenses was HK$330 million for
the year ended 31 December 2014 as compared to HK$312 million
for the year ended 31 December 2013. It represented about 1.9% of
the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2014 and was

comparable to the year ended 31 December 2013.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s general and administrative expenses was HK$709 million
for the year ended 31 December 2014 as compared to HK$622
million for the year ended 31 December 2013. It represented about
4.1% of the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2014 and was
increased as compared to that of 3.7% for the year ended 31
December 2013. The increase was mainly due to the result of the

expansion of the Group during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (E)

FINANCE COSTS

The Group's finance costs was HK$215 million for the year ended 31
December 2014 as compared to HK$149 million for the year ended
31 December 2013. The average interest rate on bank borrowings of
the Group for the year was comparable to the year ended 31
December 2013. The increase was due to the increase in average
amount of outstanding bank borrowings and the lower amounts of
interest qualifying for capitalisation.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS” AND CREDITORS' TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 75 days and 18 days, respectively, for the year ended
31 December 2014 as compared to 76 days and 11 days, respectively,
for the year ended 31 December 2013.

The Group’s debtors’ turnover days were 57 days for the year ended
31 December 2014 as compared to 56 days for the year ended 31
December 2013. This is in line with the credit terms of 45 days to 90

days granted by the Group to its customers.

The Group's creditors’ turnover days were 74 days for the year ended
31 December 2014 as compared to 64 days for the year ended 31
December 2013. The creditors’ turnover days were expected to
improve going forward given the Group’s higher bargaining power in
light of the industry consolidation.

1 % A AR

HZE2014F12831BILFE  AEEX
AR AB215EB T MREZE2013
F12A31HIEFERAR1.49EET - F
NEEHFHRTEENEEFEZE2013
F12A31HIEFERSE - KAE M B
REHREEBRTEFENERFEBAEL
ANz F B & BEIRFTE -

8 - BURARRENERRBEH

AEEREZ2014F 12831 LEFEN
BREEXKRTFERESH R A58 &
188 * MAREE2013F12A31BILEE
Blo Rl AE76HR118 -

REBREZE2014F12831HIEFEN
FEUWBR X HEEE A57H - MA E20134F
12A31HLFEAASEH - LFAEEAE
B4 FEFPASHEIOHMEER -

AEEREZ2014F12A31HLEFEN
JERBEZAER A74H - MEIE2013F
12A31HIEFERA64H « ARITEE
GEEFE  AEEBBEEEZRESN Bt
TEEENRAAERIT S AL -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ fund of the Group as at 31 December 2014
was HK$17,477 million (2013: HK$16,346 million). As at 31
December 2014, the Group had current assets of HK$11,217 million
(2013: HK$9,460 million) and current liabilities of HK$10,317 million
(2013: HK$8,909 million). The current ratio was 1.09 as at 31
December 2014 as compared to 1.06 at 31 December 2013.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC. As at 31 December 2014, the
Group had outstanding bank borrowings of HK$12,861 million
(2013: HK$10,959 million). These bank loans were secured by
corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries of the
Company. As at 31 December 2014, the Group maintained bank
balances and cash of HK$2,033 million (2013: HK$711 million). The
Group's net debt-to-equity ratio (total borrowings net of cash and
cash equivalents over shareholders’ equity) slightly decreased from
0.63 as at 31 December 2013 to 0.62 as at 31 December 2014.

The Group possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to

meet its commitments and working capital requirements.

The Group’s transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United States dollars
or Euro. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 December 2014.
The Group has used currency structured instruments, foreign
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its foreign currency

exposure.

RBEE UBERRELERE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENwWE DN (&)

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2014, the Group had a workforce of about 6,300
people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive level and
are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant labour
market and economic situation. The Group also provides internal
training to staff and provides bonuses based upon staff performance
and profits of the Group.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor
has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRER®RS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The Board of the Company believes that
sound and reasonable corporate governance practices are essential
for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and maximising
shareholders’ interests. During the year under review, the Company
has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The objectives of the management structures within the Group,
headed by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver
sustainable value to Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting
agenda, and ensures Director shave proper briefing, and timely
receive adequate and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-to-
day operations of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management, the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2014, the accounting principles and practices adopted and discussed
auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions in 2004. All the members of the
Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2014. The
Model Code also applies to other specified senior management of

the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and Role

The Board comprises:

Executive directors:

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s Jp (Chairman)
Mr Lee Man Bun mH

Mr Kunihiko Kashima

Mr Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive directors:
Professor Poon Chung Kwong G8s Jp
Mr Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman)

Independent Non-executive directors:
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Chau Shing Yim David

During the year, the Board comprises of four executive directors (one
of whom is the Chairman), two non-executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors. In addition, three of the
independent non-executive directors possess appropriate legal,
professional accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business
operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective
corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each
independent non-executive director is independent in character and
judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as
required by the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation or
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The independent non-executive directors are explicitly
identified in all of the Company’s corporate communications.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors.
Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all
regular board meetings and the directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full
to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to directors for comment
within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all
directors have access to board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

During the year, full board meetings were held and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:

ITREBAERES  BERRAREHLE
HWEREFERR L EE HEBNRD
REBEZTORMBEXTEES 117
2 EFUBRKREREAINANREER -
BRBRHE®E  —ExERREERAS
X EeERERZAEREARXTRE
Z o EHRMNERLCETENEERFRAX
REBFEH T THER -

ExehEEZ R R LEmEEE
BIIEEZWERT  FMAERHARD
BIE =& XM MAARE K FoE s 1R
EMER - FEFSRAINRRFRAFEL
BRERHIE -

FA CERZ2BES=S
SRR

BEFLRE

Number of meetings

attended/Total
Name of director Exmpg HEEE SRAKH
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 885 Jp EXRST EmgnEE KP4t 717
Mr Lee Man Bun mH EXR S Esmns 777
Mr Kunihiko Kashima BEALCERLE 5/7
Mr Li King Wai Ross B RE 6/7
Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas s ERABBE eunEs APt 717
Mr Yoshio Haga FERBELE 5/7
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony TRUESLE 7/7
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Daviesst 4 6/7
Mr Chau Shing Yim David B 717
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ERERRE (F)

Each newly appointed director receives formal, comprehensive and

tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to

ensure proper understanding of the business and operations of the

Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and

obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory

requirements.

The directors acknowledge the need to continue to develop and

refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions to the

Company. The participation by individual directors in the continuous

professional development programme with appropriate emphasis on

the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in

2014 is recorded in the table below.

BUMREEFHNEAEIZERES
ERX -~ 2EEFEMR/ERGTZ AR
NERZEBFHARAZEBREENHE
EEZER - WD AMBRN EHHRA R
HEEERETZEELRER -

EERRAEHERRUYFN AT NHE R
BEARAIBARARHEL ERL - TREIFEE
ER204FRBEYEE LM AREE Y
A BERBECHESEERITEZ
S HEEE -

Attending external

seminars/

Reading regulatory programmes

updates 28

MEEERE SPREIB RN

Name of director EEpE BHER mg w8

Executive directors HITES

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond &8s EXE L EmsnEs vt v v

Mr Lee Man Bun mH Rk Eprns v 4

Mr Kunihiko Kashima BEACERAE v 4

Mr Li King Wai Ross FRRBRAE v v
Non-executive directors FHITES

Professor Poon Chung Kwong 685 J

Mr Yoshio Haga

Independent non-executive directors
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Chau Shing Yim David

BRIV 2528 £ Fa+
FERBELE

BINHTES
TRREE
Peter A Davies7L 4
BAR L
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ERERRE (F)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its current

members include:

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Yoshio Haga

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
legal, business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The written terms
of reference which describe the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March 2012 to
conform to the provisions of the Code and the Listing Rules, a copy

of which is posted on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group's financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of
internal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and
objectively of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides
an important link between the Board and the Company’s auditors in
matters coming within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps

under review the independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a

review of the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2014.

EREES
EZZBGN2003FKY c REKER
1

AR E(EE)

TRIE A

Peter A Daviesst 4

FEEHLE

EXeRRTBERZESNELERER
KR BERZEQEPRESHEIE
B HEREHEXE FRZEGIHERE
&ﬁ%ﬁétﬁﬁm%amMZﬁmoﬁ
FAETAMGEX R ETHA - HlEZEE
@%@&ﬁﬁZ%%ﬁEammniaﬂ
28 HERE R - BiESHE 2B T
RARBRER -

i}

EZZEeTHREURITAEE 2B
ERRGETRRERZEMER - AEBEE
RE - BREEREZIBE 2B W R
Lo BREEBUWRESE LA AIZEAD
ZEZEERR  EEBRESEAFER
SR BAM 2 B R RREE o

BERZECCHEEERTAEEATRRK
e RARIES - WEHAIBEE R
BKERSEFELETIR  EPEEEME
1F2014F12A31BIEFEMEERE -
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ERERRE (F)

During the year, four Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:

FRABHONREZZESSE @5
RERMHEBRFINOT

Number of attendance

Name of member REHSA HERE
Mr Chau Shing Yim David JEEK A 4/4
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUREAE a/4
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Daviesst 4 3/4
Mr Yoshio Haga FEERBTE 1/4
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEES

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the ¥ BIZ 8 €0 2005F K - HEKE R
current members include: 1

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman) BEAREE(FE)

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUR G HE

Mr Peter A Davies
Mr Kunihiko Kashima

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under
paragraph B.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code and advises and makes
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s overall policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee ensures that no director or any of his
associate is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were approved and
adopted on 28 March 2012 to conform to the provisions of the
Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in
the Group and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

Peter A Daviesst 4
BEALCELRSE

FMEZEBE S HEMNTRIAEKZB.1.2(0
(i) MEFERAEEEETRARER
B2 BEBEBORREBELER - &
MEZESRREEESHEHEMBEAL
HEFTERNG ZHH - BFEFRNIEX -
FTMEZBE B EHEECDN201263 A28
BEERER  WEFIHERARFEE
ﬁq °

EEETRNTESZHER  FHEZES
DEREERAE  BREREHZKY &
EEMzBERIERE  SEAHE
BERLBRBEHBZME
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ERERRE (F)

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management. One
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year and all

members have attended in the meeting.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 28 March 2012 and

the current members include:

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s jp (Chairman)
Mr Kunihiko Kashima

Mr Chau Shing Yim David

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assessing the independence of the

independent non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. One Nomination Committee meeting was held
during the year and Mr Chau Shing Yim David, Mr Wong Kai Tung

Tony and Mr Peter A Davies have attended in the meeting.

FHEREEHHENETESE MR
ERFENTEERETRREREZX
B -FREREE R MEKEHAN
EEE -

REZEEE

BEEEEN20129F3A828H/K » IR
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ERRELE

Peter A Daviesst 4

REZEETIBZEAERNREZABAE
KREFEXRE  YEAEEMRIESS
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FoREEZZEMEEAENESEIR
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B -
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Board diversity

During the year, the Company continued to monitor the board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires board
appointments to be made based on merit and candidates to be
considered against an objective criteria, including diversity. In order
to maintain an appropriate mix and balance of talent, skills,
experience and background on the Board, the Nomination
Committee developed measurable objectives to implement this policy
and monitored progress towards achieving these objectives during
the year ended 31 December 2014.

The current board composition was also evaluated by reference to,
among other things, the age, gender, cultural and educational
background and professional experience of each director, against the
Company'’s business model and specific needs.

The Company believes diversity is important to enhance the Board's
effectiveness by encouraging a diversity of perspectives and to
maintain high standards of corporate governance. The Company will
continue to monitor and develop new objectives for implementing
and achieving improved diversity on the Board as and when it
considers appropriate with regard to the specific needs of the
Company and the market from time to time.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr Wong Kai Tung
Tony, Mr Peter A Davies and Mr Chau Shing Yim David, shall retire
by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the

next forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of
the directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual

general meeting of the Company.

EEgz
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EAE - HE2014F12A31BLEFE -
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ERERRE (F)

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the fee payable to the
Company'’s external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set out below:

SIS A% BB

REE2014F12A31HIEEE - SLART]
K EHK B A R R ENEBZ N IEEZRE
AR B INEZ S EMHEREIMT ¢

HK$'000

FBT

Audit Service BEZ R 6,111
Non-audit services (included tax matters, FBEERE(REHKEE -

review and other reporting services) HHE R EMEBERR) 572

6,683

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is
committed to implementing an effective and sound internal controls
system to safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group’s
assets. The Board has delegated to executive management the
implementation of the system of internal controls and reviewing of
all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk
management function within an established framework.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In
preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2014, the
directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared the
accounts on the going concern basis. The directors are also responsible
for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about
the Group’s performance to shareholders through the publication of
interim results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to
dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders,
additional information is also available to shareholders on the website
of the Company.

o Ep 12
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The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days' notice. The Chairman and Directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on the
Company’s businesses at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual directors.
In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included in the circular
to shareholders dispatched together with the annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder
meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
shareholder meeting.

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company can make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association. The
written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and must be
signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the principal
office of the Company, which is presently situated at 5/F., Liven House,
61-63 King Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

There are no provisions under the Company’s Articles of Association
or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal
of a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general
meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general

meetings of the Company.
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TrELEEMT

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Over the years, the Group has been fully committed to environmental
protection. The management implemented various measures and
controls to ensure that our duties to the environment have been
fulfilled. Our production plants are built in compliance with all the
international environment management standards and we have
employed the most effective form of technology to ensure the Group
to be one of the most environmentally friendly companies in the
world. To ensure all the measures are carried out properly, the
management has set up an Environmental Protection Division
personally led by the Chief Executive Officer and a team of qualified
professionals. Periodic internal control meetings are held to review
the environmental issues in the production plants, to update any
environmental laws and regulations and to make valuable
suggestions and recommendations for improvement. In the next five
years, the Environmental Protection Division will put more effort to
ensure high environmental standards are persistently met in the key
areas of production process, waste water treatment, water and

energy consumption and emission control.

Environmentally-Friendly Production Process

The Group's advanced production machines are designed to enable
high usage of recovered paper during the production process. One of
the Group’s long term objectives is to increase the usage of waste
paper and to decrease the usage of virgin pulp. Currently, our paper
is produced at 98% recycling rate (i.e. 98% of paper fibers are
recyclable materials) and we have one of the highest recycling rates
among all containerboard manufacturers globally. To ensure a stable
supply of recovered paper, we have several sourcing teams globally
and we have also sponsored a number of partners in China to collect
waste paper, which not only create jobs locally but also make the

surrounding area more environmentally friendly.

RERE

BEBTF  EE-ERHRERE AR
MZHERAOEEREET AR BT
HRERTNET - KERE HREFE
REEEEERZE  BERREMNRER
UiEREBEKREREFTERERRAIOA
Alz— - RIREREEENT  BEEEK
VTRERNE BERATEREFE
NEARRBTIREREM - NMEAEHERAR
MEEZEER  EEEMNARBENRRR
2 BABKEEMRERERREEDN
FHIGX BT EELRENTT RHEE
BERRNMER - RESF - RRDERBR
MEZERERREEBRE - BEKEE
FKE  REREAERREESTIER
BB BmRASEEINSRREE -

RREEBRRE

SELEMSIRTAE  AJHEERLEESR
BREAREBERIERRM AEEKE
BiRZ — 21 hnRE 4% A 8 AR D R AR &
RE - B SELERRNERERX
Z98% (B198% R ¥t AT B R B M A4
R DEMEREELEERTRS
BRBEAZMNEERZ — - REREMRME
RE  SERERRBEZEREHML A
B LBEAREBHEKE MRS
—HEANEERERE  S—EAMN
FANRIR o

24 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2014 Annual Report



CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

A EEE(A)

Water Consumption and Wastewater Treatment
Plant

Water consumption is highly dependent on the effectiveness of the
wastewater treatment processes and the amount of global change
water reclaimed in the production process. To minimise water
pollution in the production process, the Group currently employs the
world’s most effective wastewater treatment technology for paper
industries, namely a two stage anaerobic/aerobic bio-treatment and a
flotation process, which results in wastewater discharged at its
highest standards set by the national environment bureau. More
importantly, by recycling wastewater in our production process, we
reduce significantly the water consumption.

Energy Consumption

Another long term objective of the Group in environmental
protection is to reduce the energy consumption. The Group has
arranged to replace high energy consumption motors batch by batch
to frequency controlled type. Investment will usually be paid back in
about 3 years, and after that even more remarkable savings in energy
and cost will be achieved. In addition, we make use of the methane
generated in the anaerobic treatment of wastewater and some solid
waste to help combustion in the coal-fired power plants and save
fuel consumption. Better management is another important element
in generating power more efficiently and consume less energy in the
paper making process. Currently, we operate at 0.38 ton of standard
coal per ton of paper produced and our target is to reduce to less
than 0.36 ton of standard coal per ton of paper produced in the next
five years. This level is substantially less than the national average of
approximately 0.60 ton of standard coal per ton of paper produced.
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Emission Control

We focus on continuous reducing energy consumption that leads to
less coal consumption and less emission. All our coal-fired power
plants are installed with dust filtration and desulphurization
equipment and the discharge emission is always monitored on-line,
ensuring that the quality of emission meets the national regulatory
requirements. Moreover, we have set up the more effective Wet
Scrubbing desulphurization system in our plants which can further
reduce sulphur dioxide emission to a level well below the national
standard of 400mg/m°.

HUMAN RESOURCES STRATEGY

At Lee & Man Paper, we believe that our staff are the most important
resources and their well-being, growth and performance are tied
tightly to the group’s success. To create a pleasant working and living
environment, the Group has carried out various actions to review and
improve policies and facilities continuously. Moreover, the Group also
pays high concern on its staff's career development. Through a
carefully designed internal training system and continuous effort in
identifying potential talents, the Group aims to help its staff develop
multi-skills capability, enrich knowledge, and craft a career path that
can unleash their potentials and elevate their values to satisfy their
growth needs and to better align with the Group’s strategy and
growth.
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Caring Our Staff

With staff well-being as one of our core values in managing human
resources, Lee & Man Paper is committed to providing employees
with pleasant work environment and rich personal lives. We believe
that only through building a satisfied and committed workforce we
can, as a team, achieve sustainable development and success. Our

management is open to listen to our staff’s voice and suggestions.

The Group always reviews and improves catering, residence and
recreational facilities and services to provide a pleasant living
environment to the staff. The Group also devotes lots of effort in
organising cultural events and recreational activities to enrich the
lives of its staff and their families. Being in the Lee & Man Paper big
family, we have set up a financial aid scheme helping staff and their
families directly during the rough time such as sicknesses and

accidents.

Career Development

As Lee & Man Paper understands that the growth of its staff equals
the growth of the Group, we pay great attention in helping staff to
acquire new skills and knowledge to better fit with the Group’s
strategy. To meet with the global trend for multi-skills talent and to
encourage lifelong learning, every year the Group has organised a
series of internal training programs as well as subsidising staff to
study further. With the Lee & Man Paper’s performance management
system, together with the Group’s continuous effort in identifying
talents, capable staff are selected to enter our management trainee
programme global changes that aims to set new heights to their
career path. The Group has also sent students to Guangzhou's South
China University of Technology for a two-year diploma course on
paper making technology that are fully funded by the Group and
students are placed into various positions after graduation.
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AWARDS AND CERTIFICATIONS

Lee & Man Paper has always been committed to being a model
enterprise with a keen sense of social responsibility, consecutively
received government environmental protection awards and
accolades, gaining the recognition and endorsement from the
community. To demonstrate our past efforts in protecting the
environment, all of our existing operating plants have been awarded
the 1SO14001 certification for environmental management. Our
plants in Hongmei and Huangyong were awarded the GB/T23331-
2012 certification for energy management system in February 2013.
In addition, our plants have also been granted the I1SO9001
certification for quality management and Chain of Custody
Certificate by Forest Stewardship Council (FSC-COC), it proved that
we have been committed to the exploration of mutual development
between paper making and protecting the forests. In November
2009, we were awarded the Hong Kong-Guangdong Cleaner
Production Partner (Manufacturing). Since 2009, the Group is
certified as the “Top 10 Enterprises of Paper Industry in China Light
Industries” by China Paper Association for 5 years. The Group was
in 2011 and “National

Light Industry Information and Industrialization In-depth Integration

rated “Environmentally Friendly Enterprise”
Demonstration Enterprise” in 2012. Nowaday, our Hongmei,
Huangyong and Jiangsu plants have been accredited as Cleaner
Production Enterprise and Harmonious Labour Relations Enterprise in
paper industry by the respective province. Hongmei and Huangyong
plants have been recognised as High and New Technology
Enterprises, and Hongmei plant has been recognised by Guangdong
Province as Provincial-level Enterprise Technology Centre, it fully
embodies our investment in research and development and
technology. Hongmei plant has been awarded the honour of
“Guangdong Province Employer Responsibility Demonstration
Enterprise” and “Advanced Energy Conservation Unit” etc. Our
Chonggqing plant has been accredited as Ecological Improvement and
Environmental Protection, “Top 10 Strong Business Enterprises” and
“Top 10 Enterprise of Excellent Economic & Export Performance” by

Chongging City.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

A EEE(A)

To provide a safety working place is very crucial to us. Our Hongmei,
Jiangsu, Huangyong and Jiangxi plants were granted with OHSAS
18001 certification for Occupational Health & Safety, demonstrating
our commitment in caring about employee safety and quality of
working environment. The certifications ensure that we have taken
various measures to improve efficiency of internal operations and
consequently reduce accidents, danger and downtime as well as

ensuring our compliance with current legal requirements.

Furthermore, our plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong and Jiangxi
have also been awarded IECQ QC080000 certification for Hazardous
Substance Process Management. This certification provides
confidence to our customers that our products are compliant, and

that do not contain prohibited substances.

Over the years Lee & Man Paper have made numerous donations and
we have received many awards from governmental authorities to
confirm our past contribution towards the industry and the society as

a whole.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERSREEERGE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, aged 44, CPPCC National Committee,
BBS JP, Chairman of the Company and founder of the Group, is in
charge of corporate planning and investment projects. Mr Lee has
over 21 years of operational experience in paper manufacturing and is
experienced in professional formula of paper making and product
development. Mr Lee was conferred the Honorary Degree of Doctor
of Laws in 2014 and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Science
from the University of British Columbia in Canada. He is currently
involved in a number of public engagements and has been awarded
honorary citizenship of Dongguan and reputational citizenship of
Changshu. Mr Lee was awarded the “Young Industrialist Award of
Hong Kong 2002" and received an award for “2003 Hong Kong Ten
Outstanding Young Persons Selection Awardees”. In 2011, Mr Lee
was appointed as Vice President of China Paper Association. He is
appointed as Sixth President (January to December 2015) of Centum
Charitas Foundation. He is an independent non-executive director of
the listed company, Bossini International Holdings Limited. Mr Lee is
the brother of Mr Lee Man Bun, an Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and is the brother-in-law of Mr Li

King Wai Ross, an Executive Director of the Company.

Mr Lee Man Bun, aged 34, the member of the Political Consultative
Committee of Guangdong Province, MH, the Member of Commission
on Poverty (Youth Education, Employment and Training Task Force),
the Committee Member of Social Welfare Advisory Committee and
also the Advisory Committee of The Enhancing Self-Reliance Through
District Partnership Programme, Chief Executive Officer of the Group,
is responsible for production management, sales, daily operation,
research & development, repair and maintenance of production
machines and factory staff management etc. Mr Lee holds a
Bachelor’s Degree of Applied Science in Chemical Engineering from
the University of British Columbia in Canada. He is the younger
brother of Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, the Chairman and an
Executive Director of the Company and is the brother-in-law of Mr Li

King Wai Ross, an Executive Director of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESRaREEERN (FE)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (conminuep)

Mr Li King Wai Ross, aged 39, an Executive Director of the
Company, is responsible for the global procurement of recovered
paper, logistics planning and optimization, as well as external affairs
for the Group. He holds a Master’s Degree in Science in Electrical
Engineering from Stanford University in USA and a Bachelor’s Degree
in Applied Science in Computer Engineering from University of British
Columbia in Canada. He has over 13 years of experience in
production management, operations and technological research and
development. He is the brother-in-law of Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond
and Mr Lee Man Bun, both of whom are Executive Directors of the

Company.

Mr Kashima Kunihiko, aged 55, an Executive Director of the
Company. He was the General Manager of corporate planning at
Nippon Paper Group Inc, (“Nippon Paper”, the shares of which are
listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange Stock Exchange) and has over 33
years of experience in corporate planning, human resources, and
accounting and finance in the paper industry. He has experience in
various roles within Nippon Paper, including corporate planning,
human resources, and accounting and finance. He is currently the
CEO of Australian Paper. He has been involved in most major merger
and acquisition transactions and post merger restructuring projects
within the Nippon Paper, including the merger between Jujo Paper
Co Ltd and Sanyo Kokusaku Pulp Co Ltd, the merger between Jujo
Paper Co Ltd and Daishowa Paper Manufacturing Co Ltd, the
acquisition of Australian Paper by Nippon Paper and the business

collaboration with the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIREREEEEN (F)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, aged 75, GBS JP, a Non-executive
Director of the Company, is the Chairman of Virya Foundation
Limited (a registered non-profit charitable organisation), the Emeritus
Professor and the President Emeritus of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He devoted 40 years of his life to advancing university
education in Hong Kong before he retired in January 2009 from his
18-year presidency at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Professor Poon obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) Degree
from the University of Hong Kong, A Doctor of Philosophy Degree
and a Higher Doctor of Science Degree from the University of
London. He was a Postdoctoral Fellow at the California Institute of
Technology and University of Southern California. He also held the
Honorary Degree of Doctor of Humanities from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2009. He was appointed a Non-official
Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1989, received the OBE in 1991, the Gold
Bauhinia Star (GBS) in 2002, “Leader of the Year Awards 2008
(Education)”. In addition, Professor Poon was appointed as a member
of the Legislative Council (1985-1991) and a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
(1998-2013). He is also an independent non-executive director of
Henderson Land Development Company Limited, The Hong Kong
and China Gas Limited, Hopewell Highway Infrastructure Limited, K.
Wah International Holdings Limited and Chevalier International
Holdings Limited; all of which are listed companies.

Mr Haga Yoshio, aged 65, Vice Chairman and a Non-executive
Director of the Company, has over 40 years of experience in the
paper industry and was the Chairman of the Japan Paper Association
between May 2008 and May 2010, and served again from May
2012. He is the Chairman of Nippon Paper. He has spent the majority
of his time in production management, with experience in research
and development, as well as corporate planning. As the head of the
corporate planning division of Nippon Paper, he led the “Group
Vision 2015"initiative in cost reduction activities and large scale
capital expenditure projects and has focused on the business
expansion of Nippon Paper both domestically and overseas. The
overseas expansion projects he has led for Nippon Paper include the
alliance with SCG Paper Public Company Limited, the alliance with
Yuen Foong Yu Paper Mfg, Co Ltd, the acquisition of Australian

Paper and the business collaboration with the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EZIRSREEEEN (F)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony, aged 72, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co.,
Solicitors and Notaries. He is also an independent non-executive
director of the listed company, Lee & Man Chemical Company
Limited.

Mr Peter A Davies, aged 72, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, is a retired lawyer. He has over 44 years of
experience in the legal field, practising both as a solicitor and a
barrister in England and Hong Kong. Over the years, he has been a
partner of Messrs. Deacons, Solicitors, and a Directorate Officer and
the head of the Insider Dealing Unit with the Department of Justice
of Hong Kong. He was appointed to be a notary public in Hong Kong
in 1974.

Mr Chau Shing Yim David, aged 51, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. He has over 22 years experience in
corporate finance, working on projects ranging from initial public
offering transactions and restructuring of PRC enterprises to cross-
border and domestic takeover transactions. Mr Chau was formerly a
partner of one the big four accounting firms in Hong Kong, holding
the position as their Head of Merger and Acquisition and Corporate
Advisory. He is a member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute, the
Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales (“ICAEW"),
and was granted the Corporate Finance Qualification of ICAEW, and
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
and was an ex-committee member of the Disciplinary Panel of
HKICPA. Mr Chau is currently an independent non-executive director
of Up Energy Development Group Limited, Evergrande Real Estate
Group Limited, Man Wah Holdings Limited, Varitronix International
Limited and Richly Field China Development Limited. All the aforesaid
companies are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EERSNEEEGN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 48, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group and the Company Secretary of the Company, is
responsible for the internal supervision, management of the Group's
financial matters and investor relationship. Mr Cheung is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has over 26 years of experience in the field of
auditing, accounting and financial management. He is an
independent non-executive director of the listed company, China
Aoyuan Property Group Limited. He joined the Group in August
2002.

Mr Yan Jean Goo, aged 49, is the Deputy General Manager of
Chongging Lee & Man Tissue, is responsible for the overall operation
& management of tissue business of the Group. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics from the University of Xiamen and has over 27
years of experience in production and operation management. He
joined the Group in November 2006.

Mr Yip Heong Kan, aged 44, is the Deputy General Manager of the
Group, is responsible for cost controlling, corporate management
and Vietnam project. He holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from Open University of Hong Kong, is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 21 years of experience in auditing &
accounting and corporate financial management. He joined the
Group in June 2008.

Mr Lee Ho Chung Jude, aged 40, is the Administration Manager of
Guangdong Lee & Man Paper, is responsible for the daily operation
of Guangdong Lee & Man Paper. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in
Applied Science in Mechanical Engineering from University of
Toronto in Canada and has over 15 years of experience in IT
supervision and 7 years of senior management experience from
different multinational companies. He joined the Group in October
2011.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EZIRSREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivueD)

Mr Ng Hok She Harry, aged 39, is the Head of Quality Assurance,
responsible for the production quality of the Group. Mr Ng holds a
Bachelor’s Degree and a Master’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering
from McMaster University in Canada. He has over 13 years of
experience in engineering safety aspects management. He joined the
Group in October 2011.

Mr Chan Chi Ho, aged 46, is the Senior Production Manager of the
Group, responsible for industrial paper production management of
the Group. Mr Chan has over 27 years of experience in overseeing
production matters in the paper manufacturing business. Mr Chan
was former production manager of Jiangsu plant and rejoined the
Group in February 2009.

Ms Li Yuen Ling, aged 53, is the Senior Finance Manager of the
Group, is responsible for the Group’s finance activities, as well as
maintaining banking relationship for the Group. She joined the Lee &
Man group in 1984 and has over 30 years of experience in
accounting and finance for manufacturing operations.

Mr Tse Pak Kong, aged 51, is the Senior Manager of the Group, is
responsible for the global procurement of recovered paper
businesses. He holds a Bachelor's Degree of Science in Electrical
Engineering from the University of Hong Kong and has over 28 years
of experience in the management of both multinational and local

companies in China. He joined the Group in December 2005.

Mr Chan Kong Sang, aged 55, is the Manager of power stations of
the Group, is responsible for the set up and operation of various
power plants. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Engineering
from the University of Hong Kong and has over 32 years of
experience in operation and managing production and engineering
aspects of manufacturing businesses. He joined the Group in January
2001.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTinueD)

Mr Chung Wai Fu, aged 50, is the Administration Manager of
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper, responsible for Hau Giang plant operation
and management. Mr Chung holds a Bachelor Degree of Production
and Logistics Management and a Master Degree of Business
Administration in Human Resources Management from the University
of Southern Queensland. He has over 21 years of management
experience working in both multinational and local listed companies
in China. Mr Chung joined the Group since November 2008.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

EEERE

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in

note 36 and 17 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on page 47.

An interim dividend of HK6.8 cents per share amounting to
HK$317,907,000 in aggregate was paid to the shareholders during
the year. The directors of the Company now recommend the
payment of a final dividend of HK7.5 cents per share for the year
ended 31 December 2014 to the shareholders on the register of
members on 27 May 2015, amounting to approximately HK$350
million in aggregate, subject to the approval of the shareholders at

the forthcoming annual general meeting.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years/period is set out on page 7 of the

annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
at a cost of approximately HK$2,093 million for the purpose of
expanding its business. Details of the movements in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note

14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEEHRE(E)

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

During the year, the Company repurchased certain of its own
ordinary shares through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”), details of which are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements. The directors considered that as
the Company’s ordinary shares were trading at a discount to the net
asset value per share, the repurchases would increase the net asset
value per share of the Company. None of the Company’s subsidiaries
repurchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during
the year.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of

this report were:

Executive directors

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, 8ss jp (Chairman)
Mr Lee Man Bun, mH (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Kunihiko Kashima

Mr Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive directors

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, Gas jp

Mr Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman)
Independent non-executive directors

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr Peter A Davies
Mr Chau Shing Yim David
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERE(E)

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS (conTINUED)

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Wong
Kai Tung Tony, Mr Peter A Davies and Mr Chau Shing Yim David

retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, Mr Lee Man Bun, Mr Li King Wai Ross
have entered into a service agreement with the Company for an
initial period of three years commencing 1 April 2014, which will
continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either party by

three months’ prior written notice.

Mr Kunihiko Kashima and Mr Yoshio Haga have entered into a
service agreement with the Company for an initial period of three
years commencing on 1 June 2013, which will continue thereafter
unless and until terminated by either party by three months’ prior

written notice.

The term of office of the non-executive directors and each of the
independent non-executive directors is the period up to his

retirement as required by the Company’s Articles of Association.
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EZERE (&)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS EEZERFZETBAERKRAZRE
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT BREZTEENERRAE
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2014, the interests of the directors and the chief 720145 12A31H » EFMEZTHA
executives and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and 8 M 1% % 2 Bt X A £ AR 7] N H AREE

debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, as Wl - HERDREHFF - EELX
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to A FREZFFLHEEO([EFEHE
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), or as &% 1) #3521 FE 2 B etk 2 #
otherwise notified to the Company and pursuant to the Model Code % ' SEME AN F LARFH ZMARE L
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, the Stock M EHITAZERHETESF X HNIFETAD

Exchange were as follows: MBI FOERAT
Long positions )
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company KRR RER0.0258 L 2 EilmAk

Percentage of

the issued

share capital of

Number of the Company

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares  {hARQ T 1T
BEEpR 54 EBEREAE BREBDLL
Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner 40,000,000 0.86%
P& BEHEAA
Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner 29,650,000 0.63%
X, EmEAA
Poon Chung Kwong Beneficial owner 286,000 0.01%
RN EmlEAA
Wong Kai Tung Tony Beneficial owner 500,000 0.01%
FROR BEmEEA

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or chief executives or B = X AT #H FE & 4 - 1K 20145F 12 A 31
their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares, H @ &ZE%F FETHABRESHHE
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its A THIETE AR R 5] 5k E (E ] A5 B % E 1) ik

associated corporations as at 31 December 2014, D HERNSEST - EEEMERS

Sl A
KA o
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities

(including debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, at 31 December
2014, other than directors and chief executives, the following
shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant interests in

the issued share capital of the Company.

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

BEROIEZ 22 H

ARRT - EERAF - EEANE AR
X [F) Z B B A B F AT s f A 2
RIVEAZH  BEEFAEBALLQT
SEFMEMEABRBZBOHES (B
[ERERE) M -

FERR

BEARRNAIRESRRHAEESF336158
GEZFEZREELMAAEE - 1K2014
F12A318 F TIRF(ZEEREETH
ABBRINBEAMEEARABENRARAD
BITIRAR IS 2 R -

"R

RN FENO0.0258 702 L@k

Percentage of the
Number of issued issued share capital

ordinary shares held of the Company
Name of shareholder Capacity BEORT HARATSRIT
RERHEE 514 ZRRHE BAEBDL
Gold Best Holdings Ltd Beneficial owner 2,536,710,000 54.32%
BEHERA
Lee Wan Keung Patrick Held by controlled corporation
(note i) 2,536,710,000 54.32%
FER BEEHNERE A (M)
Lee Wong Wai Kuen Held by spouse (note ii) 2,536,710,000 54.32%
FEER B FEEE (T
Nippon Paper Group Inc Held by controlled corporation 718,515,679 15.39%
AARAREE (note iii)
R HEE R A (ki)
Dyna Wave Holding Asia Beneficial owner (note iii) 718,515,679 15.39%

BB A K EiD
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (conmivueD)

notes:
(i) Gold Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best") is wholly owned by Lee Wan Keung Patrick.

(i) Under the SFO, Lee Wong Wai Kuen is deemed to be interested on the
2,536,710,000 ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a
beneficial owner of Gold Best.

(iii) Dyna Wave Holding Asia is wholly owned by Nippon Paper Group Inc.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as at 31 December 2014.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities
on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all
of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and
the unqualified letter from the auditor and have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions have been entered into by the
Group in the ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal
commercial terms, or on terms no less favourable than terms
available to or from independent third parties, in accordance with the
terms of the agreement governing such transactions that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company
as a whole; and within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the

Stock Exchange.

FERRAE)

B 5 -
(i) Gold Best Holdings Ltd ([ Gold Best |) (R i
WEEHAE -

iy WBEIFHFLRBEED  BARTERBLTER
(GoldBestEz= A A) M - BHWIR BE
H:%2,536,710,0000% & B A ©

(i)  Dyna Wave Holding Asia B B AR K EE 2 &
#wa -

Bl EEN AR BEELeR
2014412 A31H AR "l i 7 sk 48 @8 I 15
ZEMEMAREERRER -

ZEBUFATES

MBI FESR LR ETRAL S
3131zl BABIIFRTERDH
AAREREFE 2B - AARRA
BB IFMTTESREBBELAL

BB ETRAUEI14A381K  EFEEE
ARNRIZEE  RREEGTMLGHE
M EBEEFEETERFE30005% N 2T 3k
ERRENBETIMBENZEFTTIEIR
EoU2REBHALZTA05RBEREE
b AR B P A 4 A B AR X B B0 A BUAT BK
HIRAEENKEFEIZFELERS -
RIFELTRA . ZBEEHAREHRE
REXZAENEESERLER  BHHE
BEHEERBERENRMN - BUFATES
EEHNFEREX I LB ERE R

B WEERAEEMETTRERE
RHDEBER—REBHFREBFAEE
FOETT > KRB TBRAXBBILE=T
BT 2IGFETT REREEZZTRSZ
AR - DB AFEERSEARFIR
RE@N e - K88 BB X2 P 17 € /9 48
FLREHE -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (conminueD)

Details of the discloseable connected transactions for the year are set
out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are
required to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Connected
Transactions”, no contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time

during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers were approximately 70% of the Group’s total
purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier were approximately 26% of the Group’s total purchases.

The aggregate sales during the year attributable to the Group'’s five
largest customers were less than 5% of the Group's total sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which, to
the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share capital

of any of the Group's five largest suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 December 2014.

BERS (&)

AEENATREZBEIZFBHANE
BB IRAMFESS -

B EXFTIEEI  WEEMEMRHA
BETRANRERTRERBERS -

EENEREGHP R

BRIBER S | —EmEESN - ARF
HERAR - MEARXFZRME AR
B VRNFEERFRAEAEHEDAL
M AARBESTHEEAHEEETHER
BEANENEAREGL -

ITEEFRHED

FR - AEERREEFGAEEBRE
BH70% @ MASE AR EEAMEARE
BB IREEEL26% o

FA - AEERAATPOAHEERERE
BBHEBEDN5% °

MECMNES RENBBALREM
(MEBERH)EERNLBEEITHRAS%
VA £ 27 BRER A bt 75 62 8] T oK 7 A0 X
AR

BEHZATIFRE

BARNB USSR Z ARERFI RN E
ERTAE  AQRREZE20149F12 A31
AIEFEEFERNERIBFZHRAREFRE -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEEHRE(E)

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Article of Associations, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
including insurance, medical cover and share options are also

provided.

The determination of emoluments of the Company’s directors has

taken into consideration their expertise and job specifications.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations of
HK$5,500,000.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-
appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Man Chun Raymond
Chairman

Hong Kong

9 March 2015

BB IRE

ARBZABERAALFEHSENN
BEEBELBRE G  REAXRFA
WIS PR AR EERMB -

F R R
AEEREETRE  KRETHERE

EEHFM - ZREHEEBBETEMNEER
@ BERRENERE -

ARBAEFZHWNEECEREEXNT
TEEIE -

B

FA - AREIHEHNEZREMBREHR
5,500,000 7T °
B

ARBEERBERBFRE LIRERFER -
BT o BAEIRTT QETANTT RALBIAD -

REEFS

FX&

e

BB

201543 A9H
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 M % A ¥

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF
LEE & MAN PAPER MANUFACTURING LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 47 to 150,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2014, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

BENERERAARRE

(RFEASESTMAZABER L A])

TZEETE BRI ENEL4TEE 1508
N2 GERER AT ([ERAF ) K HH
BRARI(ATABAIEEE ) 2EAM
WRERBFEN2014F12 831 B 2B T
MRk BEHFEEZALFEZHEABREK
EtrANREER  GEEREBRIES
HeEREXR  URFESHHEBERE
M EEERRE -

EENGREMBHRRAKENS
£

BERAEFAAEREBEBELGIMAGH
BB REERREE R AHRDIE
BHEREEEMATFHNEEMBEHRE -
AREEERUBR NS - LA iR
BER A M B RR A FAEA R KFERERM
BHHEAERRAL -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMBRS (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2014,
and of its profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

9 March 2015

RE R ST

AT BEERBEATTHEZHAETRE
MBHRRFLER - ARBEHEHE A
fER R 1A 2L B8 AR A i 1 FE AR VR EL A
@& ATHAERABEENAR - AE
A HE M A LAEERAETRER - X178
REFBSIMAGEMN T EEEL
ETEZ - EEERBRESZETERR
8 WHREIRHNITES  BUREBTLR

EMBBRERREINEFEEMERNHERR
jﬁo

B RAITREFAEREREEMBER
KRBT BRBEENNELRE -
BEMRFBURNIZEED O HE - B1EY
AN RFERERMERGE M B HRERT
BEA#ERRMORAR - EFEZERR
B ZBMEEEZERRULREAEMA
b5 AR A R R AR R A R BRI
R EZSEBR NEENEZIEF - B
VIAHERNAMEENREERE
R EBZTBRIEESMRANGHK
ROAEMERMIEHN G AEtNEE
- ARFESEMBRROERIERT
o

RITHE BESHESHNEZEERRR
TEERARITHER T RIRHER -

=R

KITIRE  REVBERRCBREFTEVH
MEEHEEMA TR SEER
2014F 12 ABMEMPBMRAR E£E
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EEBREERAAKINEERELER
%o

Ee e BERSEETAIIT
PR BATED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

melEmREMEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2014 & Z2014F 12531 H IFFE

2014 2013
20145 20134
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
BeE TERT FHET
Revenue WA 5 17,099,134 16,970,365
Cost of sales HERAR (UM YEEPIN  (14,084,063)
Gross profit EF 3,071,602 2,886,302
Other income H At g A 6 426,397 380,427
Net (loss) gain from fair value changes  #$T4¢ R T AR A E
of derivative financial instruments HEE(EE) kR (35,463) 8,210
Share of (loss) profit of a joint venture  JE{E & &2 (E18) BT (51) 460
Distribution and selling expenses DIENIEEER (CE{UOE])] (312,474)
General and administrative expenses HEKITHEA (708,885) (621,573)
Finance costs B 765 B AR 7 (214,640) (148,881)
Profit before tax & % Bl 22 ) 2,208,930 2,192,471
Income tax expense MNEMTH 8 (304,536) (244,268)
Profit for the year FEEER 9 1,904,394 1,948,203
Other comprehensive income Hig 2wz
Items that may be reclassified HERREEN TIZE
subsequently to profit or loss: BmsHA
Exchange differences arising on BREBIEBEE 2
translation of foreign operations ME X ZXE 562,758
Total comprehensive income FEHAZEKZ
for the year 1,901,193 2,510,961
Profit for the year attributable to: EHFRERT
Owners of the Company ZIN/NECTEZ RSN 1,904,394 1,948,203
Total comprehensive income JE{EE 2 E S
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NECTEZ RSN 1,901,193 2,510,961
HK cents HK cents
AL il
Earnings per share BRAEF 13
— Basic — B 40.69 41.51
- Diluted — s N/ATREH 41.42
BXGERAERAR 2014 F38R 47




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma B IR &

At 31 December 2014 K2014F 12 H31H

NOTES
FaE

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BERRE 14
Prepaid lease payments FENMEERIE 15
Deposits paid for acquisition BEEWE BER

of property, plant and %4 R - M {5 PR

equipment and land use rights Frftal & 16
Interest in a joint venture EETEER 17
Loan to a joint venture BELEER 17
Tax recoverable B ek R 8
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories BE 18
Prepaid lease payments AN HEERIEA 15
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 K H th BR 5K 19
Amounts due from related companies U & A T3R8 20
Derivative financial instruments PTEemIE 24
Bank balances and cash RITER LA R 21
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAEE
Trade and other payables JETE 5 K B Ath BR 5K 22
Amount due to a related company FES BN B FRIE 20
Amounts due to substantial shareholders &t 3 Z I8 5 3018 20
Derivative financial instruments TTESRIT A 24
Tax payable FERTRIR
Bank borrowings RITEE 23
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EE#ABR RBAE

2014
20144
HK$'000
FE&x

22,464,660
763,789

134,958
1,799
91,690
62,988

23,519,884

3,257,891
17,602
5,891,427
17,404

45
2,032,567

11,216,936

3,262,465
3,736
240,568
22,775
89,689
6,698,110

10,317,343

899,593

24,419,477

2013
20134
HK$'000
FAET

20,829,960
598,929

160,542
1,860
83,890
59,300

21,734,481

3,122,711
13,127
5,582,178
18,965
12,733
710,511

9,460,225

3,165,262
12,306
5,642

64,555
5,661,276

8,909,041

551,184

22,285,665
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

REPBRR R (&)

At 31 December 2014 K2014F 12 H31H

2014 2013
20145 20134
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
M5 THT FHET

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Bank borrowings RITEE 23 6,162,679 5,297,833
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFRIEEE 25 779,814 641,346
6,942,493 5,939,179
17,476,984 16,346,486

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#E
Share capital &N 27 116,750 117,402
Reserves & 17,360,234 16,229,084

17,476,984 16,346,486

The consolidated financial statements on pages 47 to 150 were F47EF150BMHMN G M BREDH
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 9 20154 3 B 94K E = & H# o K& 55 ) 3% -

March 2015 and are signed on its behalf by: WHTINEEREKREE -
Lee Man Chun Raymond ZEX & Lee Man Bun Z= 3R
Chairman % & Director %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

wT\

=%

B

For the year ended 31 December 2014 #{Z2014F12531H It FE

HExR

Share

Share Share options  Translation Capital Legal Special Other Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve  contribution reserve reserve reserve profits equity
BE  ROEE BRERE | EXGE  ESER  AENEE  KARE  HtRE  8#BR EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn Tin ThR ThL T TR TiEn Thn ThL T

(note) (note i) (note i) (note iv)

(RE) GiE) (GED) (GE)
1 January 2013 #2013F1818 117,241 4,624,592 35450 2,074,752 12,552 97 (2,999) (12,0600 7,748565 14,598,190

Other comprehensive income FREMZEYNE

for the year — — — 562,758 — — — — — 562,758
Profitfor the year EERA - - - - - - - — 1948203 1,948,203
Total comprehensive income FREcENR

for the year — — - 562,758 — — — — 1,948,203 2,510,961

Shares repurchased and cancelled BB J2iE S8R (7 (1505 (307,763) — - - - - - —  (309,269)

Exercise of share options (note 28) 1T BRIE(fii3£28) 1,666 158,583 (35,450) - - - - - — 124799

Dividends recognised as BARARLIRE

distributions (note 12) (HizE12) — — — — — — — — (578,19)  (578,196)
At 31 December 2013 #2013512A318 117,402 4475412 - 2,637,510 12,552 97 (2,999 (12,0600 9118572 16,346,486
Other comprehensive income EREMZARE

for the year — - — (3,201) — — — - — (3,201)
Profit for the year FEER — — — — — — — — 190439 1,904,394
Total comprehensive income FRAZENRE

for the year — — - (3,201) — — — — 1,904,394 1,901,193
Shares repurchased and cancelled BB Jo i SR 7 (652)  (11049) = - - - - - ALY
Dividends recognised as ERAARZIRE

distributions (note 12) (HE12) — - - - - - - - (659,547)  (659,547)

At 31 December 2014 20145128318 116,750 4364916 — 2,634,309 12,552 97 (2,999 (12,0600 10,363,419 17,476,984

notes: PR EE -

(i) The capital contribution arose from the disposal of subsidiaries in a prior period (i) BeEBM NS EHMRAAEESREERAR—
to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group'’s ultimate holding company. RE2EWNBRARLENBRARME -

(ii) In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the (ii) R4 P R B A 63T 0 AN BRI AR P B BT
Company'’s subsidiaries in Macau are required to transfer a minimum of 25% of BRAABESRKRERE  BEEBERNDNEEL
the annual net profit to a legal reserve, whenever dividend is declared by the F25% WM EBIEALEELAES  EERESE
subsidiaries, until the reserve reaches half of the capital of the subsidiaries. The WEBATBRAN—EAIE  ZEAEETED
reserve is not distributable to the shareholders. & T AR o

(i) The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the (i)  SFRIBEEEREAEEN2003F9A AEHK
aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Group pursuant to the BATESONBRARMNKRAEERBEEARRT R
corporate reorganisation in September 2003, and the nominal value of the WEEEmMETHRMOEENZLE -
Company'’s shares issued for the acquisition.

(iv)  In October 2008, the Group acquired the remaining 10% equity interests in each (iv)  M2008F 108  AEBEMMKRME AR 2 IE
of two subsidiaries from their non-controlling shareholders at an aggregate ZRERKREZMENB AR S % T10%K
consideration of US$35. The excess of the carrying amount of the net liabilities @ BRER3SET - IKBEABFEZERE
acquired over the fair value of the consideration paid has been debited directly to SHEBEINREZARBEZEBEEENE
equity. Jm‘:F' ek o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n/T\ Eﬁlﬁl)lbgﬂ%‘%

For the year ended 31 December 2014 & Z2014F 12531 H IFFE

2014 2013
20145 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXH
Profit for the year FEEF 1,904,394 1,948,203
Adjustments for: EREEa
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss ERBEERNFEH 304,536 244,268
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BRNEERIEEE 12,775 11,258
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME BMEMKEBEZITE 819,912 668,344
Finance costs BT A AR 214,640 148,881
Interest income FBWA (16,170) (10,289)
Reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables — fEU B 5 85 575 (& 65 48 [0 3¢ (4,600) —
Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables RN E 5 5 ZUREE 18 = 10,076
Write-off of trade receivables e B 5 Bk 3 IR 1,689 —
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWE - ME MR EEE 5,226 5,475
Net loss (gain) from fair value changes of FESBITAANREES
derivative financial instruments FEE () 35,463 (8,210)
Return on retirement benefit plan assets BRI EIE E B 3R — (39)
Share of loss (profit) of a joint venture BiEEEEEBE(AERN) 51 (460)
Operating cash flows before movements BEETEPRANLERERE
in working capital 3,277,916 3,017,507
Increase in trade and other receivables JEWE 5 K H th BR 2 & 0 (294,031) (942,020)
Increase in inventories FE® jJD (138,711) (182,431)
(Decrease) increase in amount due to a related JE Uit g & FIE R ) 1
company (8,570) 12,159
Decrease in amount due to FEAS £ B R RIE R D
a substantial shareholder (5,124) (898)
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables JERE 5 REMBEZTIEMORD) 188,424 (167,220)
Decrease in amounts due from related companies & #:& A 7 B 5 4 1,561 7

Cash generated from operations IR IR E IR S 3,021,465 1,737,104
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") ENPEARLMBE([PE])

Enterprise Income Tax paid EMEH (141,068) (161,727)
Purchase of tax reserve certificates BERNS (3,688) (6,630)
Interest paid 2F & (335,793) (296,357)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES R MEBRHSEE 2,540,916 1,272,390
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

RERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 & Z2014F 12531 H IFFE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of property, plant and
equipment

Purchase of prepaid lease payments

Acquisition of assets and liabilities

Loan to a joint venture

Proceeds from termination of
retirement benefit plan

Proceeds on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

REED
BENE  BELRRE

BERMEEHE
WEAERAR
Y ST

R \ERIRAR FIE 8IS 5008

HENE - BERRE
Fg5R

Interest received BUF S

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETHMARE TR
ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES METH

Repayment of bank borrowings BRRITEE

Dividends paid BRI E

Payment on repurchase of shares LACSAREA

New bank borrowings raised HEESRITEER

Proceeds from issue of shares
in connection with exercise of
share options

TR M H T D
78 Hh ]

FTiS 58

NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES & E B fr 2B & 54

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

RERBESENENFEE

FAZRERREEEY

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES EX#E s o &

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT THE END OF THE YEAR

represented by bank balances
and cash

FRZBASRBATEEY

RITERIRS

2014
20145
HK$'000
FET

(2,050,048)
(182,251)
(113,708)

(7.800)

19,181
16,170

(2,318,456)

(18,195,425)
(659,547)
(111,148)

20,065,999

1,099,879

1,322,339

710,511
(PE)]

2,032,567

2013
20134
HK$'000
FEL

(2,271,986)
(49,959)

(19,500)
1,105

1,695
10,289

(2,328,356)

(15,738,589)
(578,196)
(309,268)

17,595,480

124,799

1,094,226

38,260

657,106
15,145

710,511
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # Z2014F 12531 H IFF/Z

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2013 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent and ultimate holding company is Gold
Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”), a private company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate
controlling shareholder of Gold Best is Mr Lee Wan Keung,
Patrick. The address of the registered office and the principal
place of business of the Company is disclosed in the Corporate

Information section of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and joint ventures

are set out in notes 36 and 17, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of

the Company.

— AR

AR ETAERIDAF - R20034F
SA21HREMESBESARIE(2013
ifgﬁTH&)EAﬁﬂéﬁ%ﬁii&%‘EE
REBREBERLAF - BOWKREE
ﬁ’ﬁéx%ﬁﬁﬁ@ T(Wﬁ’ﬁ?&ﬁﬂ)i
e R R&E&ZER AR ZGold
Best Holdings Ltd ([ Gold Best ] ) -
R DAy e A N D AVALE)
FLARA] ° Gold Best 2 & #2758 % A%
RAEFERSLE - ARAGFMHE
B RBIRER IR AT R
AR -

AREl2—AREZKRAR  &x
EMBRARAILAELENTERK

N

B
D RIE R R FE36 /%17 ©

e BHRRABT(IET]) I
R REARBZEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs"”)/CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY

Amendments to HKFRSs and the new
Interpretation that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and revised HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“"HKICPA") for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27

Investment Entities

ER#ET REBTE BB
RELZA(EBMBREE

A IR HI £ 2 BRI
CR L CHENS SR E: 3

AEBRAFEEREBATHE
At Ag([EEGMAE])
Bz AT REERBEMBRE
R o

5
i
i

\
A
m
K

BAIERE ¥
KR 105 -
ERMERS
ERE12% K
EAei AL
E275 (BFIA)

&

b

Amendments to HKAS 32

Amendments to HKAS 36

Amendments to HKAS 39

HK(IFRIC) - Int 21

Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

Recoverable Amount Disclosures
for Non-Financial Assets

Novation of Derivatives and
Continuation of Hedge
Accounting

Levies

BRGTER
F325R (BFTA)

BRI ER
F365% (BFTA)

BRGTER
EELLACCHEN)

Eit (BRI

AHERMEER
ERAR
FERMEEN KD
BEIBE
TETANERR
Ebiik=4 gl (%

BE

Except as described below, the amendments to HKFRSs and the
new Interpretation in the current year have had no material
impact on the Group’s financial performance and position for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in

these consolidated financial statements.

HEREZES)
—REE21HR

BRNXPratsh - RERBBEAY
BREEAETRAEHTREBHA
SERANFERBEFEZHBE
BRARR, ARG BHEERR
ZHEBLEBEATE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs”)/CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY (conTiNUED)

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application issues
relating to the offset of financial assets and financial liabilities
requirements. Specifically, the amendments clarify the meaning
of 'currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off’ and
‘simultaneous realisation and settlement’. The directors of the
Company do not anticipate that the application of these
amendments to HKAS 32 will have a significant impact on the
Group's consolidated financial statements as the Group does
not have significant financial assets and financial liabilities for
offset.

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2010-2012 Cycle?

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2011-2013 Cycle'

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2012-2014 Cycle’

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments®

2.

AT R AE 5T B8R
BEL ([ F AR L
B, BHBMERE #)

BB ST ERE3I25: (BRI A
HEeMEERTREE]

BB EREI2HR(BIIR)ESE
*ﬁ%ﬁ?&ﬁéﬁmﬁiéﬁ?ﬁ&%mﬂﬁ%%ﬁﬁ
ZHRERAME - FHRE  %FE
RIEAIBRIBAR ER LA SIT 2
M E AR | [ R 230 MOFE | 2%
E AXKEUEEATREER
TRAENEELYE  ARAES
BEHEAZER G ERE32
(BRIR) TG HARKE 256 WK
BRBREAZE -

C 9840 1B 14 R B H AT R AR A4S
ABRBYBREEL

AEBEWEERZEAUTEEME
AR #ET RSB FT BB
HwEER -

BB BRE 2010F £2012F
R (BETA) BB B
WMELNFE
i’
BB BRE 2011F E2013F
R (BETA) BB B
WMELNFE
B
BB BRE 2012F E2014F
R (BETA) BB B
WELERNEE
g
BERBRE SRIAS
ERAIE IR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHRERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. FEFH%‘)T%T&“TI R BB

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS BREEN([BBYKREE
("HKFRSs”)/CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING All) S5t BEREE (#)
POLICY (conTINUED)
New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet B F8 40 1B 18 R A R HT AT RS
effective (Continued) AT EBYISREER(E)
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts’ BEEVB®E EERLEP!
RERIE 145
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with BRI BRE REEFP&HE
Customers® ZRIE 155 LN
Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment Entities: BB BRE REESR:
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 Applying the Consolidation ERIZE105 - EREHHR’
Exception® BEVBRE
EAEN2HRR
B G AR
F28% (EFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BB BRE REERHBEY
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its ZRIE10% & BELEZEN
Associate or Joint Venture® BR gL BEHEITA’
F285% (EFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of BEVB®E W LRGSR S
Interests in Joint Operations® ERIE115R CoR=
(BET )
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative’® BB G AR BEEXHIL
15 UETA)
Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable Methods BB G AR I B SR Tl
and HKAS 38 of Depreciation and F16RREB BXAENEE
Amortisation® SRR E385
SEHEN)
Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants® BB G AR B¥ : kEEEY
and HKAS 41 F16H B
Gt ERIE415
SEHEN)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

50 B8R M R ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. J*EFH%J&,.I{I R BB

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS WEER([BEBMBREE

("HKFRSs")/CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING Al BitBEREE(®)

POLICY (conTinuED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet B F8 40 1B 18 R A R HT AT RS

effective (Continued) T EBYISREER(E)

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee ARG ER FE Mzt El

Contributions' F19R(BEIA)  EEMHFK
Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial ARG ER B BmME 2K
Statements® F27HR(EFIXR)  =®E

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014. 1 MN2014F7A1B R 2B FAIRZ FEH
B4R -

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014, with 2 201467 A1B Rz B IR 2 FEH

limited exception. AR DERRERI -

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 3 M2016F1A1BR 2B FAIRZFEH
B4R -

4 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on or after 4 M2016F 1 A1z BRIz BEE

1 January 2016. BB HREENNMBRRFEREE

2 o

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. 5 M2017F 1 A1 2B FRIRZ FEH
RIAER -

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 6 201851 A1 Bz &8 2 FEH
MAER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

B3 AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG R R BB
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS #ﬁ%ﬁﬂu ([BERPKREE
(“HKFRSs"”)/CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING All) /ST HEREE (&)
POLICY (conTinuED)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with BEBMBRMEELE 1SR REE
Customers FEEHBA ]
In July 2014, HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single M2014F7H  BEAEMBREER
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for FISHEBRMEEL T —EE—&
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will RAER - LERRKEEFERM
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including WA - BBEBIMB@EERE 155
HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the R EUR IR Ry B ey A T
related Interpretations when it becomes effective. RIESIBEEB ST ERF 185
Al BEEHENEINRIZES
IR AEERZRE -
The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should BEAEMBHREERNEISHHZLR
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or BIT—E & i FE R s L A LA B3R ()
services to customers in an amount that reflects the EPEEARE I RBEE
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in WRBEEBEARBRZEERIR
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Standard BMESHNRE - ABRHN - &%
introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition: AISIA T AAERIERIA -
. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer o FI1H:HBIE-—FEEFHNE
5
e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the e FE2F: BHAERAANMNEBELNR
contract (55
e Step 3: Determine the transaction price o F3H  HEERSHER
e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance e Fa4F  BREEBBHIEZESE
obligations in the contract Eilo H’JJ@Z"]TE‘E
e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies e FoFX  BEEBFABARMG
a performance obligation e iR U A
Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a BRIEEBYEHREERFE 155
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when 'control’ of the EEAERFARYEERHERIK
goods or services underlying the particular performance A HEERARBEREENELD
obligation is transferred to the customer. For more prescriptive = T?Eiﬁyjl BEPEH IR - &
guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific M mEENE 15K EREFRER
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HEIE R EMAERENIES
HKFRS 15. S BAEMBHREENFISHITE
SREBEZ BV EE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. BRI REETEBYH

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")/CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY (conTiINUED)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
HKFRS 15 in the future may have a material impact on the
amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements. However, it is not practicable
to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of HKFRS 15
until the Group performs a detailed review.

The directors of the Company anticipated that the application
of other new and revised HKFRSs will have no material impact
on these consolidated financial statements.

Change in accounting policy

In the current year, the directors of the Company determined
to change its accounting policy to record cost of inventories
from weighted average method to first-in, first-out basis. This
change is adopted upon change of inventory costing system
which used first-in, first-out basis, to which, the management
believes, could provide amounts of cost of inventories more
efficiently without the complication of weighted average
calculations.

In the opinion of the directors, the change in accounting policy
has had no significant impact on the Group’s financial
performance and position for the current and prior years.
However, the adoption of this change in all the group
companies retrospectively from 1 January 2014 would involve
costs out of proportion to the value to the members of the
Company. Accordingly, the change in accounting policy is not
adopted retrospectively on 1 January 2014 and the comparative
figures have not been restated.

RELZA(BBMBREE
A1) S BEREE )

BB BHREENFEISHIRAEE
FERBIWAIE)

ARREERAY  $RERELEY
BREENFISHEUAEENGA
MBHRRERS SEIWEL AT
BREATZE - AN EAKEH
AmE IR - T AT BE Y BB I
BEERE1SHOTEEDSEM
it

A2 B3 T 5 A A PR A 35T A
16 5T 5 Bt 15 R 45 R B 0 5 & A 7
BRAMEALE -

B BREEE

KR - #1778 B R A S
FERREALHLE HWEFEE
ABEEATHEENTRERARLR
ERM - EEERGEHREEEN
IR 7 B AR BURR T 8 AN
BV EER

EEZRR BBXEEHAFE
KRBT FEAEENMBEERE RRK
MU BERNTE - R TEEE
REBPE2014F1 1 BRA L E
EMSRZERAGEEBERKEKE
BERKLLH - Bt - S HREEE
WHERBPE2014F1 18 KBS
FIREF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

B3 AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for the derivative financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristic of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statement is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories, or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

3.

FTESTHE

REMBRRDREFTEGAMA
ERMBEAMBREEAEH -
o AP B HRRBEBRME
FEMMRA(TEWRA D) RESR
ARG E ZERKBEEFR -

BAMBRREELRAAEE
BREBEREAREAAEHES
FMESBMTARS  RIBEMD
RFX -

FEERARN—RZRBRIXBEVAHR
BzrrfE-

ARERRFERHEMS2EE
ZHETEFXZREEEEMK
BgBEAGEMNNER  TH
ZERRERABERIERAS &
HEDAGFEE - £fhF—8E
EXBEZARER  AREEZE
ZEEXRABRFERRNFE(H
L2REFREEXRBEEERS
ERE) RZEHFAMBWERPE
BR/IBBZAREDREBRE
EETF - ERBEMBRSERNFE2
BHRETHEEINRS  FEE
SREMFIVRERTHNHERSI R
—EHUAREBHRARENNE
(PImEBGERB2RIFEIZ
AR FERE LG ERIE365
[EERE N ERER) R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M |KRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFHHEE#E)

(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value ot - BB ERmmE - AR EE

measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the ERBARBEHERAZE TS

degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are REERBAHBHEA ‘C BEEES
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value EEEMHWOBERE  B2XE3
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: &

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active o FIR-BAHBIERNE
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity EHHEERBTISMIEREE
can access at the measurement date; o BERE ZMECREHE)

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices o E2BR-WMABBINEZE 1R
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset FEOREIEEEXREENA
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and EESEEBEME 2B AR

ESNE

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or s FIR-BAHEBREELE

liability. EOEENB RG22 & AR
ﬁ o

The principal accounting policies are set out below: FESFEESHINOT

Basis of consolidation mERBEE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial ZAN/NSI DS EN/NS Eeak = o= A Qo

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the NEDM B B RTRIGWALRE VB W

Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the = PBEHIREARNA

Company:

e has power over the investee; o  HBREESIWKER

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its e XREZRHBREFEBMERS
involvement with the investee; and S EREESNAERR &

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. e FAERENTEHEEHNMEZEHEMD

j$& o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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B3 AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to
the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

J rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

SRR (#)

RERBEESE)

iWEE RIF RN Ll = G
TEHRPHN-EXZETEEE - 8
AEEEEHNTHERTHBHERER
BT H IR o

EAKERBERENZERERIR
ﬁy@ MERETHELERSE

BEIEERERKRET ZHBE
B - A ARIERIRIKRET - A%
EEBE—HBEERBRAFGEAR
SERBERETIRERRES EH
BEFIE BT8R

s ARERARERBEMAYE
RERFEAMFENEE &
D

o AEEH HUREFAALHE

METHE 2 BEREE
e HMEMAHNLHMELZZE
hi Rk

s EMBHNFERBRELAE
BRAORITAELINTEEL
REREEERBEERY - 2%
BERREZZIRETA

RA W%“T%EF$EEH #
fEAREGERFG  XRAR
Bk XM B QRS R -
LER  FAMKBILEMEL
AME  BAKEERFEHEZ
A EEEAEEICBHAMNBER
ARG AL - FIASZRERRE R
H2ERERA °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investment in joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities

require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

SRR (#)

RERBEESE)

BEakEMEERENZEEE T
BERANRAREA A RIFEEE
@ IR EEEOFERESHRE
Mg MWBARZEEZEWED
CEBNARAEAARIFERE

Bk ma

(R AN = Nl
RIEFLAE  BUEHSFBRRER
SEEMKEARMRABEERN—
ﬁo

SEAZKERAHEZRSEBN
BEMAE  #zE WA HR
BenEOnGakREN2mEH -

BEDLERE
BELEE-RBARTH Bt H
AR Z LS T ER LR
FEE - AREGR—HAEOHE
#?%E%HZ&TJF EerRTEMER
FHAHR %HE’JXE B[R = B
E@ﬁfﬁo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment in joint venture (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of joint venture are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the
equity method, an investment in a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
joint venture. When the Group’s share of losses of a joint
venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint venture
(which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the joint venture), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made

payments on behalf of the joint venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment in joint venture (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in a joint venture. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable

amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the joint
venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances, net of
discounts and sales related taxes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the
following conditions are satisfied:

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

o the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits associated with

the transaction will flow to the Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the

transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that

asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income from supply of steam and electricity is recognised upon

the provision of the steam and electricity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Income from the rendering of wharf cargo handling services is

recognised in the year in which the services are provided.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for
leasing below.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of relevant lease. Initial direct
cost incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in

which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)

Leasehold land and buildings

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases, in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position and is amortised
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RR MG (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in

profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.
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70

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit scheme are
recognised as an expense when the employees have rendered
services entitling them to the contributions.

Equity-settled share based payment
transactions on share options granted to
employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share
options reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.
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RE B R AR M A ()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interest in joint venture, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are

expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings, held for use
in the production of goods or for administrative purposes,
other than construction in progress, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their

intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost assets,
other than construction in progress, less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
basis in 2014, whereas the Group adopted weighted average
basis in prior years. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of

completion and costs necessary to make the sales.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of the two
categories, including loans and receivables and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss. The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is

determined at the time of initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group's financial assets classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are derivatives that are not
designated as hedging instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at
fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on
the financial assets and is included in the ‘other gains or losses’
line item. Fair value is determined in the manner described in
note 30(iii).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Loans and receivables (including loan to a joint
venture, trade and other receivables, amounts due from related
companies, and bank balances and cash) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment (see accounting policy on impairment of loans and

receivables below).

Impairment of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of the reporting period. Loans and receivables are
considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future

cash flows of the investment have been affected.
Objective evidence of impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in

interest and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of loans and receivables (Continued)

For certain categories of loans and receivables, such as trade
receivables, assets are assessed for impairment on a collective
basis even if they were assessed not to be impaired individually.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in
the portfolio past the average credit period of 45 to 90 days,
observable changes in national or local economic conditions

that correlate with default on receivables.

The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the assets carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s

original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not

been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the

definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are

recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The Group's financial liabilities classified as at fair value through
profit or loss are derivatives that are not designated as hedging
instruments.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are stated
at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial
liabilities and included in the ‘other gains or losses’ line item.

Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 30(iii).

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to related companies, amounts due to substantial
shareholders and bank borrowings are subsequently measured

at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition. Interest expense is recognised on
an effective interest basis.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contract are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirely, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014  # Z2014F 12531 H IFF/Z

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4. fhEtREABE R 2 EERIRK

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment loss on trade receivables and bills
receivables

The assessment of the impairment loss on trade receivables and
bills receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectability and aging analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgment. A considerable amount of judgment
is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the current creditworthiness of each
customer. If the financial conditions of the Group’s customers
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability
to make payments, additional allowances may be required.
Impairment is made based on the estimation of the future cash
flow discounted at the original effective rate. As at 31
December 2014, an impairment loss amounting to
HK$5,476,000 was recognised on trade receivables and bills
receivables (2013: HK$10,076,000). Movement in the
recognition of impairment loss described in note 19.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Income taxes

As at 31 December 2014, a deferred tax asset in relation to
unused tax losses of approximately HK$98,000,000 (2013:
approximately HK$81,000,000) was not recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability of the
deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether sufficient future
profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the
future. In cases where the expectation for future profit streams
changes, a recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which

such a recognition takes place.

Recognition of deferred tax

As at 31 December 2014, no further deferred tax liabilities have
been recognised on the undistributed profits of the group
companies in the PRC after 2008 as the Group plans to retain
those profits in the respective entities for their daily operations
and future developments. In case there is a change in such
plan, additional tax liabilities will arise, which will be recognised
in the profit or loss for the period in which the management
intends to declare such profits in the foreseeable future or the
Group's future development plan is amended, whichever is
earlier. Details of the above unrecognised liabilities are set out
in note 25.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

During the year, the Group acquired its tissue paper
manufacturing business following the completion of the
acquisition of assets and liabilities through acquisition of the
entire issued share capital and shareholder’s loan of Guang Kai
Limited (“Guang Kai”), details of which are set out in note 33.
The tissue paper manufacturing business forms a new

operating segment during the year ended 31 December 2014.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by operating segments under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”,
based on information reported to the Company’s executive
directors, being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance, which focuses on types
of goods delivered. The Group’s operating and reportable
are as

segments under “HKFRS 8 — Operating Segments”

follows:

() Packaging paper — Kraft linerboard, test linerboard,

coated duplex board, white top linerboard and high
strength corrugating medium;

(i) Pulp; and

(i)~ Tissue paper.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results DERARFELE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results NTREATREDDE D2 AE
by reportable segment: WARFEEDT -
Year ended 31 December 2014 BE2014512A31HLEE

Packaging Tissue Segment
paper Pulp paper total Eliminations Consolidated
BRE v BEK WA E3f &a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TERT TER THERT THET

REVENUE A
External sales YoM E 16,314,886 709,835 74413 17,099,134 — 17,099,134
Inter-segment sales D HEEE — 109,942 — 109,942 (109,942) —
16,314,886 819,777 17,209,076 (109,942) 17,099,134
SEGMENT PROFIT DEE R 2,377,480 21,369 2,406,147 — 2,406,147

Net loss from fairvalue T4 4R TA

changes of derivative DREZE

financial instruments FER (35,463)
Shareof lossofajoint  [EfA40%

venture BB (51)
Unallocated income AOEZBA 60,385
Unallocated expenses RoE 2 (7,448)
Finance costs PR A (214,640)
Profit before tax BRI &R 2,208,930
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDIHER(#)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEBUWA R L& (4F)
Year ended 31 December 2013 HZ2013F12A31BLEE
Packaging Segment
paper Pulp total  Eliminations  Consolidated
BELR R SEEE g ey
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FEL TAET AR TAEL
REVENUE O
External sales HANEE 16,322,938 647,427 16,970,365 — 16,970,365
Inter-segment sales Dtz EHE — 74,647 74,647 (74,647) —
16,322,938 722,074 17,045,012 (74,647) 16,970,365
SEGMENT PROFIT PBEF 2,215,769 21,309 2,237,078 — 2,237,078
Net gain from fair value fTEERMIA
changes of derivative NRhEEY
financial instruments FEEs 8,210
Share of profit of a joint EEAELE
venture B 460
Unallocated income xoBZWA 102,386
Unallocated expenses KDBE7ZIH (6,782)
Finance costs EIE N (148,881)
Profit before tax BR T A0 & A 2,192,471

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of net (loss) gain from fair value changes of
derivative financial instruments, share of (loss) profit of a joint
venture, interest income, net exchange gain, finance costs and
other unallocated administrative expenses. This is the measure
reported to the CODM for the purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERAR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities NTRERAIREDMBEI D 2 A E
by reportable segment: BERBESIT
Packaging
paper Pulp paper Consolidated
BHEE N FEAK =E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHET FHET THET THET
As at 31 December 2014 420144
12A31H
Segment assets DEE E 29,351,267 2,492,257 632,416 32,475,940
Unallocated assets ADBZEE 2,260,880
Consolidated total assets 4R & BEE 34,736,820
Segment liabilities DEFEE 2,577,149 2,650,445
Unallocated liabilities Aoz alE 14,609,391
Consolidated total liabilities %74 # & & 17,259,836

As at 31 December 2013 720134

12A31H
Segment assets S ERE E 27,545,081 2,684,065 — 30,229,146
Unallocated assets KOBEE 965,560
Consolidated total assets 4G4 @& E 31,194,706
Segment liabilities SEEE 2,142,368 43,467 — 2,185,835
Unallocated liabilities Koz aE 12,662,385
Consolidated total liabilities 424 & & & 14,848,220
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PTEHEEREB(E)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and REZDBERRALNRSHEDEE
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated B -FBEEEASE TEEDE (1T
to operating segments other than derivative financial T E - FIWEIFRIE - RITA
instruments, tax recoverable, bank balances and cash and other NI E A A RE D SBERFTH
assets used jointly by reportable segments, and all liabilities are ZHMEBERIINARFABEAES D
allocated to operating segments other than derivative financial BT (ITEERMIE - BN
instruments, tax payable, bank borrowings and other liabilities BMIE - RITEERARE D EHE
for which reportable segments are jointly liable. et Bt B ERRIN) ©
Share of (loss) profit of a joint venture was excluded from EiEEE X (ER)BRIE A
segment results. However, interest in a joint venture and loan ADEBEF - Rt - 2L EHR
to a joint venture were grouped into packaging paper segment. EECEEREREEABRELD
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the effect TEIN/NES] - $ REHDHLEER
of the asymmetrical allocations to segment results and segment SHEENTHBOEREETH
assets are insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. WEHNTEMITEE
Revenue from major products REETEERHEA
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its UNTAEREBRETZEERNKA
major products: Sak /I
2014 2013
20145 20134
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Packaging paper (including linerboard BER(BEFERRIBNHR)
and corrugating medium) 16,314,886 16,322,938
Pulp R 709,835 647,427
Tissue paper B 74,413 —
17,099,134 16,970,365
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Geographical information b 35 &
Over 95% (2013: 95%) of the Group's revenue were derived AEBEBZWRABIBIS% (2013F -
from external customers in the PRC. 95% ) KRB FRBINBES ©
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented REEFRDEEEAH DREEM
based on the geographical location of the assets. EHL 25 °
Non-current assets
FRBEE
2014 2013
2014%F 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER THETT
PRC other than Hong Kong PR HERI 23,059,915 21,367,855
Socialist Republic of Vietnam MRt g R LMNE
("Vietnam") (T#m]) 399,200 302,310
Hong Kong BE 60,769 64,316
23,519,884 21,734,481
Information about major customers FRETEEFZEH
None of the Group's customers contributed over 10% of the AEBATRERNTEAEER
Group's total revenue for the current and prior reporting PEAEEBWRAFEIBIO%
period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

6. OTHER INCOME

Income from supply of steam
and electricity
Income from wharf cargo handling
Sales of materials and waste paper
Value added tax and other tax refund
Net foreign exchange gains
Interest income from banks
Government subsidy for pier facilities
(note)
Compensation for damaged goods from

6. HitA

2014 2013
2014%F 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT

HEERLREIRA
107,310 90,163
KEHEEERA 54,454 46,074
BER R EHRIEE 75,524 46,735
HAEBERR AR 68,410 82,510
O H e 44,215 92,097
RATH S A 16,170 10,289

8 FFF st 5% B8 2 e 2 488 B (BT R
30,410 —
HEBHLRRAFNBERE R

suppliers and insurance companies Fi{E 2 B 18 7,963 618
Others Hith 21,941 11,941
426,397 380,427
note: During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group received an Mz REZE2014F12A31BIEFEAR - &K
unconditional subsidy from a local municipal government of Rui Chang, EEWR —EHPBEIIEE RS ™EBA
Jiangxi Province in PRC, in relation to the development and advancement REAEERGERBNHBE 2 EFRERK
of a pier owned by the Group in Rui Chang. No other contingencies EOERGEE  CERBTHENT
attach to the government subsidies that have been recognised. EINEHMET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e

B3 AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BAEERAS
2014 2013
20145 2013%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
Interest on bank borrowings wholly RAFREBHEE CRITEERE
repayable within five years 335,793 296,357
Less: amounts capitalised to property, WEWE - BERREBEZEANL
plant and equipment k| (121,153) (147,476)
214,640 148,881
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose from the FAZERLBERARTIR—KE
general borrowings and are calculated by applying a BRELE NEEREEMSICE
capitalisation rate of 3.5% (2013: 3.5%) per annum to KA FFZE3.5%(20134F : 3.5%)
expenditures on qualifying assets. T -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

8.

BB

2014 2013
2014%F 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT

Income tax recognised in profit or loss: REZRERZFER

Current tax REATRIE
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax — B ERTER
("EIT") ([ZEmRBEH])
Under(over)provision in previous year EERE (B BE
- PRCET — B DEMREHR
Deferred tax (note 25) EIERIE (FiEE25)
— Charge to profit or loss —Fr A=

151,933 153,313

14,135 (9,708)

138,468 100,663

Total income tax recognised in profit or loss  FA18 z% WHERR 2 B F) 157

v

304,536 244,268

The Group's profit is subject to taxation from the place of its
operations where its profit is generated and is calculated at the
rate prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

PRC

The following PRC subsidiaries, are entitled to a reduced EIT
rate due to preferential PRC EIT treatment for the calendar
years of 2013 and 2014 which are summarised as follows:

() Guangdong Lee & Man (as defined in note 36) was
entitled to a reduced EIT rate of 15% as it has been
qualified as a High and New-Technology Enterprise (7= %7
R i) since the calendar year of 2010 and it has
successfully renewed its High and New-Technology
Enterprise (= #riffi>%) status in the calendar year of
2013. As such, it is entitled to enjoy a reduced EIT rate of
15% for the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2014.

REBZBNEANERNREREE
BT MR - HIRRER DA

BEERERZMENE -

]

TR B E R AR2013F &
014 BFEPRPEFBSHESR
FE ZERECEFRSHHE -
Bt

=

EREX(ERRMZE36) A
2000F BEFEB s F i
EER ZHRELEMER
TE15% - WHR2013FFF
RIWEBESHHEMEESR
1o Bt EREE2013F K
201412 A31BILEFE=EZA
W EMERBEI5% -

—
=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

8.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (contivueD)

PRC (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Jiangsu Lee & Man (as defined in note 36) was entitled to
a reduced EIT rate of 15% as it has been qualified as a
High and New-Technology Enterprise (75 #T#:1lT{>%) for
the calendar years 2011 to 2013 but failed to renew its
high and New-Technology Enterprise (&#THiT{E%) in
the calendar year of 2014. As a result, the applicable EIT
rates are 25% and 15% for the years ended 31
December 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Chongging Paper (as defined in note 36) is regarded as
an entity entitled to the China Western Development (7§
EBAFAEE) tax concessions with a preferential EIT rate of
15% for the calendar years of 2013 and 2014. As a
result, the applicable EIT rate is 15% for the years ended
31 December 2013 and 2014.

Dongguan Lee & Man (as defined in note 36) was
entitled to a preferential EIT rate of 15% as it has been
qualified as a High and New-Technology Enterprise (757
Fff>%) since the calendar year of 2009 and it has
successfully renewed its High and New-Technology
Enterprise status in the calendar year of 2012. As such, it
is entitled to enjoy a reduced EIT rate of 15% for the
years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013.

Chongging Tissue (as defined in note 36) is regarded as
an entity entitled to the China Western Development (7§
EBAFAEE) tax concessions with a preferential EIT rate of
15% for the calendar year of 2014. As a result, the
applicable EIT rate is 15% for the year ended 31
December 2014.

8.

NE

B (&)

Bl (4)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

TEHENX(ERRMTEF36)RN
201N FE2013FBF GETS
RHBEMEEER  ZARE
TEMEHNEISY - ER
Q04FBFEBEE BN
TEERKIR - Bt - REZRE
20144 %2013 12 A31H 1k
FREZEABLEFRMSEMRMNES
A E25% M 15% °

EEER(EEREME3)RN
2013 R2014FEBEF « #HR
RUZAEABRAZLHRIBES
¥ CRAEZHEEELEM
BHMEIS% - Eiit - #Z
20134 K% 2014%12 83181k
FREZHRALEXMGHMER
15% ©

EEX(EERMFE36) A
20095 B F RS = HTH T
TEER ZHERELEMS
R EI15% » WR2012FF
FRNEEESHBMOEE
& oIt EREE20145F R
2013F 12 A31MBHIEFE=EA
RSB EI5% o

ERHER(ERRME3I6)R
204 FF - R AUEA
AXARFAEHREER 2B
AZEEECENMBRHE
15% ° #& UL - B £20145 12
AMBLEFEZBEATERS
TRBEB15% o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (contivueD)
Hong Kong

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department (“IRD"”) commenced a field audit on the
Hong Kong tax affairs of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Since then the IRD has issued protective profits tax assessments
against these subsidiaries in the aggregate amount of
HK$311,025,000 for the years of assessment from 2003/2004
to 2007/2008 (i.e. the five financial years ended 31 March
2008).

The subsidiaries lodged objections with the IRD and the IRD
agreed to holdover the tax claimed on the basis that the tax
reserve certificates at certain amounts were purchased by the
subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2014, the tax reserve certificate
of HK$62,988,000 (2013: HK$59,300,000) have been
purchased by these subsidiaries. In January 2015, the IRD issued
protective profits tax assessment for the year of assessment
2008/09 at HK$65,010,000 and the subsidiaries have lodged
objections in February 2015. The directors believe that the IRD
would agree to holdover a substantial part of the tax
demanded for the year of assessment 2008/09 unconditionally.

The directors believe that no provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax in respect of the above mentioned protective assessments is
necessary. In addition, as far as the directors are aware, it is still
in a liaison and discussion stage and the IRD has not yet
expressed any formal opinion on the potential tax liability, if
any, because the tax investigation has not been completed.

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group’s income neither arises in, nor is derived from Hong
Kong.

MEB S H#)
&8

REE2010F3831BIEFE -
EERBR(IBBERDBREBAR
KRB BETHWEBEBRAABTERBE S
HMNEMET - HE  BEB[H
2003/2004 & 2007/2008 2 &
FE(MEE2008F3 A318 1t
TEMBFE)  MZEME QT
BHREENSHIAREG LB
311,025,000 7T °

MEARMMEBDIREERE RN
BREWBARABE —TLBEN
BRFMEREIRAEEHTIE -
M2014F 128318 ZEHMERQ
A 2 B 562,988,000 % jT (2013
4 59,300,000 L) 2R F o
201541 A » B % B 5.2008/2009
CAMFEBHLREETIREGHLS
%65,010,0008 T KB R AE
MR2015F 2 ARERE - EFHE
MEREEEGKHEREZHRDBHL
2008/2009: R B F EAITIIA ©

o BEFREHRA > REAE
DENEBERRERTK - BB
RERREBERGAGB(NAE)EEX
EMERER - Bt - EFR/H
At D REMEFIRRBEENEHR
TR -

HRASE Z WAL IFEB KRB
BE - RUBERBAHBMELES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e

B3 AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conminuED) 8.

Macau

The Macau subsidiaries incorporated under Decree-Law no.
58/99/M are exempted from Macau complementary tax (Macau
income tax) as long as they comply with the relevant

regulations and do not sell their products to a Macau resident.

Vietnam

The Vietnam subsidiaries are subjected to Vietnam Corporate
Income Tax at a maximum rate of 25%. No provision for
Vietnam Corporate Income Tax has been made for both years
as the Vietnam subsidiaries incurred losses for both years.

Other

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

MEB K (#)
B

R PP B & AR 4% 58 58/99/M 5 VA
SRMA - R R RNRPIHE
ZEBRORFIMER)  ATEREAE
SHEERATNFRRPIARL QTR
HEEm e

4=

BEKBRARAZ N ZN25%H X
BB EEMEHR o AR BEN
BARRMEFEHEFER &
WESMEFEAREBEEMS
P

Ht

Hith BAE &R E L/ B A R Z (@
RIRLEESRER ZHERE -
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RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTiNUED) 8. MEBZHE)
Other (Continued) Hith(42)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

Profit before tax BREi A&
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% ERANE25%

(2013: 25%) (note i)

Tax effect of share of loss (profit) of
a joint venture

Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose

Tax effect of income not taxable for
tax purpose

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Effect of tax exemption granted
to Macau subsidiaries

Effect of concessionary rates granted
to PRC subsidiaries

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
operating in other jurisdictions

Under(over)provision in previous years
(note ii)

(20134 : 25%) (Pf&ED)
FEIGA &R ERBE (R

Bsge
TAMBAT EOFR ST E

BEARROBRANTREEE

AERHBEEORBEZE
BB ARERRBHNTE

TR B AR EEERENTE
REMREEREENHE AR

WARB RN E
BEFENR (B BE (HEE)

Tax charge for the year

FRBRBRX

notes:

@

(ii)

This represents the domestic income tax rate in the jurisdiction where a
substantial portion of the Group'’s operation is based.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, a subsidiary of Group
incorporated in the PRC was requested by the local tax authority to
perform a self-assessment of tax payable for the calendar year 2009 to
2012, by applying higher profit margins to its sales to a fellow subsidiary
incorporated in Macau. As a result of the self-assessment, the Group paid
HK$18,129,000 and recognised such amount as an underprovision in
prior years.

Overprovision for the year ended 31 December 2013 and 2014 of
HK$9,708,000 and HK$3,994,000 respectively, mainly represented
additional deduction for production cost qualified as research and
development expenditures under relevant PRC tax rules for income tax
purpose in the PRC, i.e. an additional 50% of such expenses could be
deemed as deductible expenses. The approval of the 50% additional
deduction of research and development expenses for last year was
obtained in current year.

FARBRAXEAREFGBEDSRE
fo 2P m RO BN ERMAT -

2014 2013
20145 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT
2,208,930 2,192,471
552,233 548,118
13 (115)
73,451 30,222
(8,625) (5,286)
4,165 8,611
(180,088) (174,812)
(150,953) (153,000)
205 238
14,135 (9,708)
304,536 244,268

BRERARERADEBEEMEZ

AERR CEHAEHE -

REZE2014F 128318 LLFE - A%
(8] — P8 7 B A Sz A BT BB A DA M B
MR B R ¥ 2009 2012 4 B & fE S
MEBRRSEMHEE T HERRPKRL
ZRAZEENBARETERIR - R
BERAH - AEE 218,129,000
BILRZEECHERABAFET TR
&

HZE20135 %2014 12 A31 B 15
EzHBEEE D B A9,708,0007 T &
3,994,00087C © T B AE BRI
X H)EERAIRIE P B R AES R
B AT AR - B EEAN S
Z50%FIMIRER - LFEHEER
HEAINS0 % A A F E B E R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 EZ2014F 12A31H 1t F/&

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

FEAEA

2014 2013
20145 2013%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBT
Profit for the year has been FEBMEMBR(GIA) -
arrived at after charging (crediting):
Directors’ emoluments (note 10) E=M e (MiE10) 30,946 8,756
Staff salaries and other benefits, BIfHFekEMEN -
excluding those of directors TEIEES 801,455 650,112
Contributions to retirement benefit RRAEFIFT B -
schemes, excluding those of directors TREFEES 55,177 54,492
Total employee benefit expense BERAMAZEHE 887,578 713,360
Auditor’s remuneration % B AT BN & 6,111 5,724
Cost of inventories recognised as expense FEKRAER AT L 14,027,532 14,084,063
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments T HH &R IE 8 12,775 11,258
Depreciation of property, plant and W BEREHEITE
equipment 819,912 668,344
Total depreciation and amortisation WEMEHRRE 832,687 679,602
Loss on disposal of property, LEWE - BE &
plant and equipment HfE 2 BB 5,226 5,475
Operating lease rentals in respect of T RIEFRLE
land and buildings HERS 10,820 9,501
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEWE 5 REFRAEEE = 10,076
Write-off of trade receivables FEULE 5 BR SR 8 1,689 —
Reversal of impairment FEUE F R K
loss on trade receivables BB 5 18 o (4,600) —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

10. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. EERETETHAEMSE
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2013: ENSENTAUEEREETH
ten) directors and the chief executive were as follows: AB (20135 : TR)BMEMT

Other emoluments
HitiE &

Contributions
Salaries to retirement

and other benefit  Share-based
benefits schemes payments
Fees HFeR BNREF R HE % 1% Total
ne Hib3E# aH B ME &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT T FTHT T THT
2014 2014%
Executive directors HITEE
Lee Man Chun Raymond FX B
Lee Man Bun Eei)
Kunihiko Kashima BEALE
Li King Wai Ross g
Non-executive directors FNTEE
Poon Chung Kwong ERA
Yoshio Haga HEEE

Independent non-executive directors B HHITEE

Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUE
Peter A Davies Peter A Davies
Chau Shing Yim David IEES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. EBERFETHAEMNS (&)
EMOLUMENTS (continueD)

Other emoluments

Hinfi &
Contributions
Salaries to retirement
and other benefit Share-based
benefits schemes payments
Fees ek RINER P fE 2 15 Total
we H b 8 F BE LS E At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FET FHT FTET
2013 2013%
Executive directors HITEE
Lee Wan Keung Patrick ESEE:
(resigned on 1 June 2013) (720134
6A18EfT) — — — — —
Lee Man Chun Raymond ES 929 471 — — 1,400
Lee Man Bun ES@ 3,736 1,364 — — 5,100
Kunihiko Kashima BEALE — — — — —
Li King Wai Ross g 890 766 — — 1,656
Non-executive directors IHTEFE
Poon Chung Kwong ERN — — — —_ —
Yoshio Haga EEHE — — — — —
Independent non-executive directors B IFHTTEE
Wong Kai Tung Tony TRE 200 — — — 200
Peter A Davies Peter A Davies 200 — — — 200
Chau Shing Yim David REK 200 — — — 200
6,155 2,601 — — 8,756
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond is also the Chairman of the FNEBEENABARAER - kil
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those BECHEBEEEREZFMEMR
for services rendered by him as the Chairman. FIRIE < B < -
For the year ended 31 December 2014 and 2013, no HZ2013F &%2014%F 128318 1t
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an FE AEEBVEINEAME T
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a EEERFEEMAIMARE
compensation for loss of office. No directors waived any BRREEBRNEZHE - ZFH
emoluments during these periods. I\ EENEMS -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2013: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 10.
The aggregate emoluments of the five highest paid individuals,
including directors, were as follows:

1. AfuBeME AL

rEEBZaMEzAMAL  Ef
=H(2013F : =ML BAARARES
MEMESER LM FI10HE - A
UExEMEAB(BREES)ZAF
BT -

2014 2013
20145 20134
HK$"000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Salaries and other benefits e kEAMmER
Contributions to retirement benefit RRAEFIFH B3R
schemes

34,242 13,315

17 15

13,330

The emoluments were within the following bands: B F TR
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001%7C21,500,000/8 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7L %2,000,000/8 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7L%2,500,0005 T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 723,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 7L%E4,000,000/5 7T —
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001/ 7L E5,500,000/8 T 1
HK$12,000,001 to HK$12,500,000 12,000,001/8 7L E12,500,000/5 7T —
HK$14,000,001 to HK$14,500,000 14,000,001/ 7% 14,500,000/ 7T —
5
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e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

12. DIVIDENDS 12. BR

2014 2013
2014%F 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHERT FAT

Dividends recognised as distribution: WRRBDIKZRE
Final dividend of HK$0.073 in respect HZE2013F12A318ILFEZ
of the year ended 31 December 2013 REAMREEH0.0738 T

(Final dividend of HK$0.05 in (BE2012F12A318 1t
respect of the nine months ended AR Z REIRR &2
31 December 2012) per share FhR0.05% 1) 341,640 235,382

Interim dividend of HK$0.068 in respect & Z2014%F12A318ILFE 2
of the year ended 31 December 2014 HHAR S %0.068F 7T

(Interim dividend of HK$0.073 in (B ZE2013F12A31H8 1t

respect of the year ended FEZHEBRE

31 December 2013) per share BFH%0.073/&7T) 317,907 342,814

659,547 578,196

A final dividend of HK$0.075 per share in respect of the year EFEFREERZE2014512 A31
ended 31 December 2014 (2013: final dividend of HK$0.073 BIEFERAREER0.0758 T
per share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2013) has (20134 : E{=2013F12A3181t
been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by FEREKRBEER0.0738m) ©
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. ARFRREEERREAGHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

13.

BRER

ARABBEBEANEREAREE A
MITIAT 5 Bim B2

2014 2013
20145 20134
HK$"000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Earnings for the purpose of basicand ~ BT E SR ER K

1,904,394 1,948,203

2014 2013
20144 20134
Number of Number of

shares shares

RO BE g 4=

diluted earnings per share ERA BT
Weighted average number of B ESRERBFH
ordinary shares for the purpose of LB RNEFE S

basic earnings per share
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: @M AE# EZZ

LTIV ELES 4,693,689,102

N/ATIE B 9,375,752

Share options (Note) B AR (P3E)
Weighted average number of Rt ESREE RN
ordinary shares for the purpose of TR ETE I

diluted earnings per share

\IiciE 4,703,064,854

Note: No diluted earnings per share in 2014 was calculated as there was no
potential ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 31 December
2014.

e : BREE2014F12A31HIEFERIT
EBEREERTEZEBER - Bitr2014
FUEAEGREERF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

e i >
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERZE
Furniture,
fixturesand
Computer equipment Leasehold Motor Plantand  Construction
Buildings system i~ BE improvements vehicles machinery inprogress Total
EF ERZE  RERRE RENEEE RE  BERES ERIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fiax T Tin T T Fitn T Ti#n
cosT RA
At 1 January 2013 2013F1A18 3,818,063 25,302 477,325 500,838 59,138 14,409,748 2,962,320 22,252,734
Exchange realignment  E 3 B384 102,130 a1 12,666 12,804 1,368 368,554 51,358 549,381
Additions HhE 32,652 19,157 23,154 5446 5693 99,702 2,056,718 2,242,522
Transfers &g 532,626 — 79,854 14,606 — 1,757,614 (2,384,700) —
Disposals/written off HeE /W — — (1,166) — (4,034) (10,621) — (15,821)
At 31 December 2013 2013F12A318 4,485,471 44,870 591,833 533,784 62,165 16,624,997 2,685,696 25,028,816
Exchange realignment EREMER 2,553 44 537 3 7 20,983 11,029 35,241
Additions RE 433,229 2,425 14,921 2,441 5784 60,803 1,573,718 2,093,321
Acquisition of assetsand ~ WEEERERE
liabiites (note 33) (ME33) - 7 430 651 369 - 353,256 354,713
Transfers g 42,280 — 41,419 2,119 — 518,588 (605,006) -
Disposalsfwritten off iV% - (483) (1334) — (4920) (9,108) (17,285) (33,130
At 31 December 2014 20145128318 4,963,533 46,863 647,806 539,618 63,470 17,216,263 4,001,408 27,478,961
DEPRECIATION &
At 1 January 2013 201351818 807,364 14,361 227,902 146,101 36,429 2,230,364 - 3,462,521
Exchange realignment ERERAR 2,119 18 6,109 3,935 776 43,685 - 76,642
Provided for the year ENEE 158,995 3,940 42,856 25,215 5415 431,923 — 668,344
Eliminated on disposals’ 1 /Hi B i 4
written off - — (1,038) - (3,753) (3,860) - (8,651)
At 31 December 2013 2013F12A318 988,478 18,319 275,829 175,251 38,867 2,702,112 - 4,198,856
Exchange relignment  E 3 B384 1,061 18 123 219 E)) 2,803 - 4,25
Provided for the year FREE 206,635 5,909 44,550 26,716 8,159 527,943 - 819,912
Eliminated on disposals/ & /#i B 44
written off — (1) (1,019 — (3,952) (3,751) — (8,723)
At 31 December 2014 2014F12A318 1,196,174 24,245 319,483 202,186 43,106 3,229,107 — 5,014,301
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 December 2014 2014F12A318 3,767,359 22,618 328,323 337432 20,364 13,987,156 4,001,408 22,464,660
At 31 December 2013 2013%12A318 3,496,993 26,551 316,004 358,533 23,298 13,922,885 2,685,696 20,829,960
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

notes:

0]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

The above buildings of the Group represent buildings on lands under
medium-term lease in the PRC.

Certain buildings of the Group are erected on lands in the PRC with
respect to which the Group has not been granted formal title of
ownership. At 31 December 2014, the carrying value of such buildings
was HK$1,442,033,000 (2013: HK$1,093,003,000). In the opinion of
directors, the absence of formal title to these buildings does not impair
the value of the relevant buildings to the Group as the Group has paid
substantially the full purchase consideration of these land use rights and
the probability of being evicted on the ground of an absence of formal
title is remote. The directors also believe that formal title of these
buildings will be granted to the Group in due course.

As disclosed in notes 31 and 35, certain portions of the buildings have
been leased to a related party. These buildings were not reclassified as
investment properties as the leased portions could not be sold separately
and a significant portion of the buildings is held for use in the production
or for administrative purposes.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and
equipment other than construction in progress over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual values, using
the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 5%
Computer system 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Leasehold improvements 5%-15%
Motor vehicles 20%

Plant and machinery 3'5%-20%

14. % - BMERKE#E)

()  EbEzAfEBERFIATEGHEEL

Mo b2 BT o

(i) SEEEETEFERNDARTEE
FREARZFPE L E - K2014

#£12A31H

CHREBFTIZIEREE

% 1,442,033,000 % Jt ( 2013 &
1,093,003,000/%70) - EER A KR
ZEBFIABERTTEEESEME
EEFEE EBARNEEDXFRIHBH
BEZS I MERAEZRERARRIE
A R IR B WU e i Y i R
TEM - EEFEEETABRERE
BRTFZEEFZIEAEAE -

(iii)

B EE31 R35FTM - BFE T E T

REBRBF—BEAL ZEEFASE
REBEEWE  EEERHLTHEEBL
& REFRABOIRHARELEER

TR -

BERZIREIN -

M - BERREER

REFENFGBEER - N E A
AELRORSHE ST B LSS A - £

T

BF

BIHAESR

B~ EE R B RAR
HEMELE

TE

RS Bt 2s

5%

10%

20%
5%-15%
20%
3':3%-20%

BIGEREBERAT 2014 3R

103




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e

B3 AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

15.

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold lands
held under medium-term leases located in:

5. BYHEERIR

AEERNEERBERRTHEE

PRC =8
Vietnam g

Analysed for reporting purposes as: WMERBRMIEZDHT
Non-current asset IEREEE
Current asset MENEE

HRNZEEL IR
2014 2013
20145 20134
HK$ 000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
736,744 566,933
44,647 45,123
781,391 612,056
763,789 598,929
17,602 13,127
781,391 612,056

As at 31 December 2014, the carrying value of land use rights
in respect of which the Group had not been granted formal
title of ownership was HK$194,349,000 (2013:
HK$120,362,000). In the opinion of the directors, the absence
of formal title to these land use rights does not impair the value
of the relevant properties to the Group as the Group has paid
substantially the full purchase consideration of these land use
rights and the probability of being evicted on the ground of an
absence of formal title is remote. The directors also believe that
formal title to these land use rights will be granted to the

Group in due course.

MN2014F 128318 » EEAER
FERBAEZ L HFEAEZE®R
& 4 194,349,000 7T (2013 4F :
120,362,000 70) - EEFR AKX
ETHFERAEEXNEERLTE
BESEHEENEEE BALASE
EEXARSHEEZ L E AR
ZRERUXBREREERNER
e e R T EMN - &
ENHEETABREESERT
ZETMFEREEXEERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

16. DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

LAND USE RIGHTS

The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with the

acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use

rights for new production facilities. The related commitments

for acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use

rights are disclosed in note 32.

17. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

16.

17.

BEYE BERRBRL
o HEFTIR] &

T RASERTHEERE
MEBENWE - BE MEERLH
FREMNE BEVE BEXK
BEAR THERAENEBAAED
M EE32H 5 -

%
)_

i

BB LR

il

Cost of an unlisted investment in
joint venture

Exchange realignment

Share of profit and other

comprehensive income

REEREZ
REMREKA
[EXEHES
FE15 &8 7
H b 2 W

o>

Loan to a joint venture (note ii)

A0 RN )

2014 2013
20145 20134
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
1,657

203

1,860

83,890
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHRERME (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

17. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (conminuep)

notes:

(i) Details of the Group’s joint ventures and its subsidiary at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

Issued and fully

BELXER )

E)I

Eéiﬁi/ﬁrﬁikzl&%@z%%@%&ﬁm%

ARIFHBWT -

Proportion of issued

Name of joint venture Place of paid share capital/ and fully paid up capital
and its subsidiary Form of incorporation registered capital held by the Group
HELER entity ventures and operations BRTRMERA/ AEEHEERTR Principal activity
HEWBARER REBFEERZKA RUREERY EfER BERALA TEEK
Directly Indirectly
HE Gk
Joint venture:
RERE:
Southern Hill Company Limited  Limited incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary shares 50% —  Investment holding
("Southern Hill") BRARRL B - HK$2 RE R
MEERAR([FE]) Eiml
—2E1
Its wholly-owned subsidiary:
H2EBAMBAR
HEEXMRERAR Limited incorporated ~ PRC Registered capital — 50%  Provision of port facilities
(Ruichang Lee & Man BRAFKL HE - US$12,000,000 RSO
Logistics Company Limited) FMER
—12,000,000%7C
(i) The loan is provided to the joint venture in the form of a shareholder’s LA RS 3R 18 3 =B 4 R AR

loan and it forms part of the net investment in the joint venture. The
amount is unsecured, interest-free and no fixed repayment term but the
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future.

Summarised financial information of material

joint ventures

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's

material joint ventures is set out below. The summarised

financial information below represents amounts shown in the

joint venture’s consolidated financial statements prepared in

accordance with HKFRSs.

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in

these consolidated financial statements.

(ii) é%ﬁ%%%’x
é%ﬁ%%’r&ﬁﬁﬁ—ﬁﬁ o REERTY
ﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁ B R EREEERE - EEE
T RBEEAT 8] > AR M AR AT IE K
R EE A -

TERELEVBENBE

ERAAEEZIEZRZ20EMBH
ZHEIMT - TXHMBERBMETS
BECERREBUBRSENR
BB EUBREMERZIEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

17. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (conminueD) 17. 68 EERE)
Southern Hill's consolidated financial Bl EEMBEER
information

2014 2013
201445 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Current assets mEEE 1,848 1,583
Non-current assets nBEE 196,163 183,634
Current liabilities mEEE (194,412) (181,497)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE —
The above amounts of assets and rEEREEZ
liabilities include the following: SREBHE
Cash and cash equivalents RELBREEEY 1,583
Current financial liabilities MBERAE
(excluding trade and (T"BREENES R
other payables and provisions) HoAth BR 30 N B4 ) (183,355) (167,780)
2014 2013
20145 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Revenue WA = —
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive — FE (EE)EFMEEE (X H)
(expense) income for the year Wz 4858 919
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

17. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (conminuep)

Southern Hill's consolidated financial
information (Continued)

The above (loss) profit for the year include the following:

17. B ERER (&)

FAlg 2 mEMBEN(E)

FaFE (BB BNNERE

2014 2013

2014%F 20134

HK$'000 HK$’'000

FHET FHET

Depreciation and amortisation PrEE R s (37) (40)
Interest income FEBA 3

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in Southern Hill
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

LR BEERMEC BELREMB
BRERNEEZ a2 REEY
BE o

2014 2013

20145 20134

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

Net assets of Southern Hill By FEE 3,598 3,720

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7N 5 B A EF 18

interest in Southern Hill T 48 2 £b 131 50% 50%
Carrying amount of the Group's AEEREEEZZ

interest in Southern Hill BRHEE 1,860

18. INVENTORIES 18. &

2014 2013

20145 20134

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Raw materials B 2,441,223 2,575,323

Finished goods R 816,668 547,388

3,257,891 3,122,711
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REUBmRMWE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

19. EWEBE S REMIRR

2014
2014%F
HK$'000
FET

2,689,886
(5.476)

2,684,410
1,923,853

Trade receivables U E BRI

Less: allowance for doubtful debt B RIBEREAE

Bills receivables FEUL

Prepayments and deposits for BB REEMNRIER
purchase of raw materials HEa

Other deposits and prepayments HMFT & RIBNHRIA

VAT receivables JiE U $8 (B B 5008

Other receivables H b e W 5K I8

4,608,263

599,899

88,014
401,665
193,586

5,891,427

2013
20134
HK$'000
FAT
2,620,403

(10,076)

2,610,327
1,680,642

4,290,969

657,947
108,473
329,102
195,687

5,582,178
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTinuep)

notes:

(U]

(ii)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits. Credit sales are
made to customers with a satisfactory and trustworthy credit history.
Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly. The Group
allows its customers an average credit period of 45 to 90 days. The
following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period, which
approximated the respective revenue recognition dates.

19. EWEBE S REMEIRR (&)

AEERERNERMFFTLR - S A%

BEEEFPNEREERATHEER
e FEHERSRTREETHRREN
BEF BEFPEERETHMTURS - A
SEETEPNTHERMARAHE
90H - U T RMEMRIZERAH (A
EEENBAERES) 2 ZRKE
5 RERBERRERR AN

Aged: BREC
Not exceeding 30 days TEEE30H
31-60 days 31—60H
61-90 days 61—90H
91-120 days 91—120H
Over 120 days 12085 &

2014 2013
201445 20134
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
3,476,684 3,219,934
842,643 850,628
202,880 173,574
39,624 14,705
46,432 32,128
4,608,263 4,290,969

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances are debtors with an
aggregate carrying amount of HK$86,056,000 (2013: HK$46,833,000)
which were past due at the reporting date but for which the Group has
not provided for impairment loss as the Group considered such balances
could be recovered based on historical experience. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances. The directors consider all trade
receivables (other than those for which impairment losses have been
recognised) at the end of the reporting date are of good credit quality
with reference to the track records of these customers under internal
assessment by the Group.

(ii)

AEERKESEREHTEERR

A #£ 86,056,000 JT ( 2013 4 -
46,833,000/ 7T ) &) FE U B 5 BR S0 3R
LHADEEH  HASERABRIES
A8 - ZSASBEN T LARE - Hr
EETRREBEEG - AEEWERZK
EEBBFETMNEFRR - EAEERE
ZERBPNARBRRSELORBTML
EERAERSHEARANBRENE SRR
(ZEERAREBENRINHAER
FEEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (contivuep)  19.

notes: (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(Continued)
Ageing of trade receivables which were past due but not impaired

W E 5 Kk H AR (&)
WHRE ¢ (4)

(if)

(#)

160 55 18 14 S 060 L 1O B LK 5 BR R Y AR

2014
201445
HK$'000
FEx

91—120H
120H LA+

91-120 days
Over 120 days

39,624
46,432

86,056

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

RERBEED

2014
20144
HK$'000
FTHERT

At 1 January “1A1H
Impairment loss recognised on receivables B EM IR EER 2 RUEE 1R
Reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables & U8R 5% > )& (B &5 18 @

10,076

(4,600)

At 31 December "®12A318

5,476

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired
trade receivables with an aggregate balance of HK$5,476,000 (2013:
HK$10,076,000) which have either been placed under liquidation or are
in severe financial difficulties.

Trade and other receivables that are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below:

(iii)

2013
2013%F
HK$'000
FHT
14,705
32,128

46,833

2013
20134
HK$'000
FT

R IR B & B 1E 7 @ B RS B8 3B
EVBEBEONERESRERRME -
A H £ 55,476,000 5T (2013 4 -

10,076,000) °

VIAEREEERNEEETENE

WE 5 REMBTNT

2014
20145
HK$°000

FET

HK$ BT
United States dollars ("US$") FEmx ([%Ex])

275,495
176,585

2013
20134
HK$'000
F#T
214,024
20,835
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED 20. BR(H)BEERTIREER
COMPANIES AND SUBSTANTIAL RFIE
SHAREHOLDERS
Amounts due from related companies disclosed pursuant to RIBBEB R FEGGIE161BFT# R
section 161B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance are as ZFEWEEE AR RIBAT ¢
follows:
Maximum
amount
Balance at Balance at outstanding
31 December 1 January during
2014 2014 the year
Name of related company Terms M20145 R20145F R
HELRER ®% 128318 &8 TR1B &% &E XK
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET THET
Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Unsecured, non-interest bearing
Limited (“Jiangsu Chemical”) and repayable on demand
(Note) B RERENEREEER
IEHEX AL TARRAA
(DI#ET ) (M) 10,797
Lee & Man Industrial Unsecured, non-interest bearing
Manufacturing Limited and repayable on demand
(“LMIML") (Note) BER  RRRERBEXREEE
EBXEXARLA
(MExXEX]) (M) 9,708 11,438
Note: The amounts due from related companies represent trade balances due Bt e - PR E R R FROE Ty R U AL T &R
from Jiangsu Chemical and LMIML, both of which are beneficially owned NEENB &S MERRADRER
and controlled by Mr Lee Wan Keung, Patrick, the ultimate controlling NAREERRRTEREERAE —L
shareholder of the Company, and one of his daughters, respectively. ZREmEA REG -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED 20. BRI BEAERAREER

COMPANIES AND SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS (conTinUED)

HK$518,000 (2013: HK$5,642,000) of the amounts due to
substantial shareholders represent trade balance due to Nippon
Paper Group Inc. (“Nippon Paper”), a substantial shareholder
of the Company. The amounts are unsecured and interest-free.
The Group generally allows related companies an average
credit period of 30 days and the amounts for both years were
aged less than 30 days. As at the end of the reporting period,
the balances were neither impaired nor past due. The credit
period granted by a substantial shareholder is 30 days and the
amount was aged less than 30 days.

The remaining amount of HK$240,050,000 (2013: Nil) due to
a substantial shareholder represents consideration payable to
Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen for the acquisition of Guang Kai. The
amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
Details of the acquisition are set out in Note 33.

The amount due to a related company represents trade balance
due to Jiangsu Chemical. The amount is unsecured, interest-
free, with average credit period of 30 days and was aged less
than 30 days.

The amounts due from (to) related companies and due to
substantial shareholders that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the relevant group
entities are set out below:

RFRIR(4#)

FE AT £ Z IR R K IE 518,000 % 7T
(20134 : 5,642,000/8 1) Jy FEF
AAREERFEAARKEKEE([H
KRB ZESEH - ZSHEBEA
BIEEREE - NEE—RETH
EARFHEEHI08 REHRER
MEFENREHLRI08B - B
REMR  ZEESMERESS
B xZRRLET2EEHAR3H
M2 IERRR D R30H o

# N X 78 240,050,0007% 7T (2013
FB)DENARBIZERIEFTE
HREARKEXI ZRE - ZER
BHAEERHR RBRERERKE
B o WIEFHIBE NI EE3S -

FEfSRE R R FIATI NI T
ME &R - BB ERT - %
B FHEEH308 kKR D30
E o

S 35 A7 50 55 4B 00 A K O A
e B (1) BB 2 7 R A+ 2 B AR
ERAEHIINT

Amounts due from related JE U B8 5E N B G B

companies — HK$ —BT

Amount due to a related JFE TR R R 5RIR
company - HK$ — 87T

Amounts due to substantial ENEZREHRIE
shareholders — HK$ — BT

2014 2013
20145 20134
HK$"000 HK$'000

FExT FAET
1,153 3,835
(3,736) (12,306)

(518) (5,642)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

21. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 21. RITEHRRES
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and BITERERE2BEAEEFAED
short term bank deposits with an original maturity of three BRe MR AF3ME A AN E
months or less. HRITER -
Bank balances that are denominated in currencies other than WHNEHRERERBIGEEKHE
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set B ERITAS ERE TN T -
out below:

2014 2013
201445 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
HK$ AT 71,016 39,515
Us$ ETT 537,938 70,554

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. ENES R EMR
2014 2013
20144 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T FHET
Trade and bills payables ERNE S EEBRRK 2,406,140 2,175,485
Construction fee payable B TR 427,925 543,889
Accruals EsrE A 159,112 189,897
Receipt in advance 78U FRIE 118,505 113,864

Other payables H b fE T3R8 150,783 142,127

3,262,465 3,165,262
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

oz £ e
22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CoNTINUED) 22, BHESREMER )
notes: BT
i) The average credit period taken for trade purchases ranges from 30 to (i) BHHE s FHREHH30E1200 1T
120 days. The following is an aged analysis of the trade and bills payables o TRARBERRLZERAH R
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. NERRBRBERRZERDIN -
2014 2013
20145 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Aged: BRER ¢
Not exceeding 30 days THBiB30H 933,141 1,008,030
31-60 days 31—60H 606,852 471,831
61-90 days 61—90H 473,231 369,958
91-120 days 91—120H 375,957 312,226
Over 120 days 12084 £ 16,959 13,440
2,406,140 2,175,485
(i) Trade and other payables that are denominated in currencies other than (i)  WIHAEBREEERDEEEAENE
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below: NESREMBRAT
2014 2013
20145 2013%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Euro (“EUR") BT (TRT)) 477,195 455,446
uUs$ ES 1,458,636 1,356,574
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e

BRI T (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

23. BANK BORROWINGS 23. RITEE
The Group’s bank borrowings, all of which are unsecured, AEEZRTEE(2IEHYAER
comprised: )8 :
2014 2013
2014%F 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHT
Bank loans IRITER 12,526,485 10,368,852
Bank import loans RITEOER 334,304 590,257
12,860,789 10,959,109

The bank borrowings are repayable RITEEMNERHANT

as follows:
Within one year —E R 6,698,110 5,661,276
More than one year, but not BE—FELRME

exceeding two years 996,979 4,117,433
More than two years, but not BEMFERIRAT

exceeding five years 5,165,700 1,180,400

12,860,789 10,959,109

Less: Amount due within one year B Y BREAER

shown under current liabilities —FREIEAFIE (6,698,110) (5,661,276)
Amount due after one year —F & B BFIE 6,162,679 5,297,833
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

23. BANK BORROWINGS (conminuED)

notes:

U]

(i)

(iii)

All the above bank borrowings carry variable interest rates ranging from
Hong Kong Interbanks Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 1.10% to HIBOR plus
2.48% or London Interbanks Offered Rate (“LIBOR") plus 0.88% to LIBOR
plus 2.30% (2013: ranging from HIBOR plus 1.00% to HIBOR plus 2.55%
or LIBOR plus 1.03% to LIBOR plus 2.55%) per annum.

The weighted average effective interest rate of the Group’s bank
borrowings are as follows:

23. RTEE &)

B sE -

(i) FHFARTERYAZEER  F
BEXRBAEABTRAEFREMIA0%E
2.48% M BERTTR IR B 010.88% =
2.30% 5 (20134F « HHRITRZER
BEN1.00%%22.55% s PR TEZE
FEMT.03%ZE2.55% %) »

A RIS 2 2 B A MR P B
mF -

2013
20134

Variable-rate borrowings FEEE

2.17%

Bank borrowings of HK$1,928,904,000 (2013: HK$2,024,701,000) with
a repayable on demand clause are included in bank borrowings of
HK$6,698,110,000 (2013: HK$5,661,276,000) repayable within one year.

The Group’s bank borrowings that are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out
below:

(i) MEEEZRERABRZRITEE
1,928,904,000 # st ( 2013 &
2,024,701,0008 L) EREE—F R
F) 8~ 4R 17 {§ B 6,698,110,000 7 7T
(20134 : 5,661,276,000/7T) A °

(i)  WHENAHEEERDEERELAR

EUR BT
Us$ ESM
HK$ I

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2014
20145
HK$'000
FET

Derivative financial assets TESRMEE
- net settlement - FERK
Foreign currency forward IR A A
contracts (note i) (P 3EI)
Derivative financial liabilities T4 2R & &
- net settlement —FERNK
Foreign currency forward IR BE A
contracts (note i) (PR &ED) 22,775

SEETEENT ¢
2014 2013
20144 20134
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx F#T
— 120,788
1,029,264 1,443,750
636,449 762,592
24. $TEERMTI A
Current Non-current
TE ¥RE
2013 2014 2013
2013 20145 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TRER TAET
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3= =T ==
24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 24. TR SR IR (&)

(CONTINUED)

notes: B 5

(i) Foreign currency forward contracts (i) HEBRBELD
Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at M2014F 12 A3TB R THEINEERE
31 December 2014 are as follows: Rz EFEEHMT -
Notional amount Currency conversion
#HeeE BE¥ER
15 contracts to buy EUR57,603,894 in total EUR1: HK$9.5770-10.5
150 & #)HE57,603,894B T 1BAT3H,9.5770210.54 7T
3 contracts to buy US$7,224,003 in total US$1: HK$7.7491-7.7521
3P E KL ET,224,003% 7T 13670 H,7.749157.752 18T
Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at M2013F 12 A3THRTHEINEERE
31 December 2013 are as follows: Rz EFEEFHMT -
Notional amount Currency conversion
HeeE BEiEin
7 contracts to buy Great British Pound (“GBP"”) 18,270,000 in total GBP1: HK$12.3661-12.7244
7 E#F£E18,270,0005 85 ([ 285 ) 155 12.3661212.7244% T
11 contracts to buy EUR43,955,653 in total EUR1: HK$10.2473-10.6117
1117 & 414+ E43,955,653E07T 1BUT R 10.2473510.61174 7T
1 contract to buy EUR8,000,000 in total EUR1: US$1.3692
1154 #)3£E8,000,000B 7T 18T 1.3692% T
3 contracts to buy US$47,500,000 in total US$1: HK$7.7515-7.7519
31 &K+ E47,500,0005 7T 1327CH7.751527.7519% T

(ii)  The fair values of the above derivative financial instruments were (i) LilifTESMIAEZ AR ENREREA
calculated using discounted cash flow analysis based on the applicable BRENNEERST 2 RR S TERT
forward foreign exchange rates. He

118 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2014 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

25. DEFERRED TAX 25 IEFERIE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised TRAFTECHREERBBAGER
and movement thereon during the current and prior year: KEERLELFECEE) -
Undistributed
earnings
Accelerated of PRC
tax subsidiaries
depreciation HR [ Ff
B g ATFZ Total
e Ko B & F &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHET

At 1 April 2013 2013F4/1H 536,538 4,145 540,683

Charge to profit or loss FFAEZE 100,663 — 100,663

At 31 December 2013 2013412 A31H 637,201 4,145 641,346

Charge to profit or loss FFAEZE 138,468 — 138,468

At 31 December 2014 2014512 A31H 775,669 4,145 779,814

notes: BEE -

(i) At 31 December 2014, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately (i) M2014F12A31H » "EBEHKH
HK$98,000,000 (2013: HK$81,000,000) available for offset against future BAEFMHAEENMRREN 2 HEE
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of such 18 49 /& 98,000,000 & T (2013 & :
losses for both years due to unpredictability of future profit streams. As at 81,000,000/ 7T ) © M MEIATERT AR R
31 December 2014, tax losses of approximately HK$12,958,000 (2013: BFRM  MEFELRAZSEHEER
HK$9,844,000) from the PRC subsidiaries will expire at various dates up RBREERBEE - R2014F12 A31
to and including 2019 (2013: 2018). B FIAEE412,958,000/7T (2013

F 19,844,000/ 7C) KREFEHKEA
R R EEL B3E20194F (20134 ¢
20184 ) 2 Z AR B EARIH -
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25. DEFERRED TAX (conTiNUED)

notes: (Continued)

(i)

According to the EIT Law, dividend paid to foreign investors out of profit
earned by entities established in the PRC from 1 January 2008 onwards is
subject to withholding tax at 10%. For investors incorporated in Hong
Kong and holding at least 25% of equity interest in a PRC company, a
preferential rate of 5% can be applied. The Group has not recognised
deferred tax liability in respect of the relevant undistributed profits of
some of its PRC subsidiaries because the directors believe that the
Company is able to control the timing of the distribution by its subsidiaries
such that no withholding tax will be payable in the foreseeable future. As

25 JEERLIE ()
WA (4

(if)

RIFDEREBHEL - B2008F1A1H
RN PEEMRINEEORF
FIRETEINEEE  AHIBIH
10% ° BBFMAZERFBERFFE
BN EENIRESE BREEH
E5% - AREFBEAD R A EHE
AR TIRM ZEE - BERATRE
BRTEHERBIR - WAEEERE
FENERRMEEARDEAFFTIRIELT

MBAGEEE - NIREHER - P
& A 7]k 5 B 2 7 48 B8 i oK #E SR A0 IR ST
TIBBELE2.94EHBT(2013F - 4
25688 L) °

at the end of the reporting period, the deferred tax liabilities in relation to
the undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised were approximately HK$294 million
(2013: approximately HK$256 million).

(iii) (i) AETFHBRAZBERNEZRBEMES

The tax rates of certain subsidiaries were changed when these subsidiaries

became entitled to concessionary tax rates pursuant to relevant incentive BERRZEEEVEREE - FEH
tax rules as detailed in note 8. RS ©
26. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 26 R K& R 8
Defined contribution scheme REMMREE
The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees AEBEBBERMBEAEARERR

in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF scheme are held N —IEREEEE o ZRESEE

separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control MEEMAEBMNEESRITAE -
of trustees. The Group contributes monthly the lower of UERBAGEEAEENES - ~E

H1%1,5008 T (H2014F1 1R E
2014%5HA31H A1,2508 L) %A
B AFKARNS5% - ARIEE B
mgEETEIMHR - BHEB ZHK
7§yo

HK$1,500 (HK$1,250 from 1 January 2014 to 31 May 2014) or
5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the MPF Scheme,

which contribution is matched by employees.

AEEHRBESAENE—TIH
EERRFEFLATRMAER -

The only obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme is
to make the required contribution payable on the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are members

of the state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by 1 Eﬁ( T & #J# E’J . XEER 17F & #
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to FTE - B E A F /,\?ﬂEA%ﬁi
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the BE T B DL - RRKE R S #
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only FoERBRNZA AEBERK

BAGENE-—EERERIELET
it e

obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. B
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
EERYE kx|
Note HK$'000
it & TEx
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2013F1A18 + 2013F
at 1 January 2013, 31 December 2013 12A318K%2014%
and 31 December 2014 12A3188K0.025%8 T
MBI 8,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTRER
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2013F1 318
at 1 January 2013 F0.0258 LR LB R 4,689,622,980 117,241
Share repurchased and cancelled BRAn BBl Rt 88 (i) (60,206,648) (1,505)
Exercise of share options (note 28) TR B R (P st28) 66,666,668 1,666
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2013%F12A31H
at 31 December 2013 FR0.0258 TR E AR 4,696,083,000 117,402
Shares repurchased and cancelled BRI E KT (i) (26,083,000) (652)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2014%F12A31H
at 31 December 2014 FH0.0258 TR LR R 4,670,000,000 116,750

FrEMR2013F 128318 L FEET
MO ES T EEBEERG=E
HRER -

All the new shares were issued in year ended 31 December
2013 rank passu with the existing shares in all respects.
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (conminueD)

Note:

(U]

27. BA (&)

BT
The Company repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as (i) RATRBERIEEARS 2 RHMAT :
follows:
2014 20144
Aggregate
No. of ordinary consideration
shares of Price paid per share paid (including
HK$0.025 each BRIZAER expenses)
Month of $520.025:8 T Highest Lowest ZIEARE
repurchases BE A% ZEBERHAE BBE RIE (BfE#H)
HK$ HK$ HK$’000
BT BT FHET
March 2014 2014437 9,743,000 42,125
April 2014 2014547 6,340,000 28,295
June 2014 2014468 4,898,000 19,869
November 2014 20144118 5,102,000 20,859
26,083,000 111,148
2013 20134
Aggregate
No. of ordinary consideration
shares of Price paid per share paid (including
HK$0.025 each T MBS expenses)
Month of FH%0.02548 7T Highest Lowest ZHDNRE
repurchases BB Am ZEBRE B &= &K (BFER)
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT F&ET
January 2013 2013418 29,441,980 5.18 4.74 145,427
February 2013 2013427 1,861,000 5.39 5.18 9,986
March 2013 2013437 607,000 5.80 5.52 3,486
April 2013 2013544 13,256,668 5.99 5.59 77,628
May 2013 2013%54 6,188,000 5.65 5.06 32,776
June 2013 201346 7 8,852,000 4.89 3.93 39,965
60,206,648 309,268

The above shares were subsequently cancelled.

AR T RETR RS
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 28. UREXNIRS

Pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders of the
Company dated 11 September 2003, a share option scheme
was approved and adopted (the “Scheme”).

The Scheme was established for the purpose of providing
incentives to directors and eligible persons. The Scheme will
remain in force for a period of ten years from adoption of the
Scheme. The Scheme expired on 10 September 2013.

Under the Scheme, the Board may at their discretion grant
options to (i) any director (including executive directors, non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors)
and employees of the Group in which the Group holds an
equity interest or a subsidiary of such company; or (ii) any
advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners, promoters, service
providers of any member of the Group may be determined by
the Board from time to time to subscribe for the shares of the

Company (the “Shares”).

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
of grant. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of the Company at any point in
time. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue on the last
date of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in accordance

with the Listing Rules.

RIEA QB EN 200349 A 11
HEREMEEREER  BRETS
([5ZaT &)t & R -

BV EAEERBERETESER
BERATLT - ZTEINBERAER
MAEEEFT10F - ER20134F9A
T0RE °

REZAE  EFEATRHEBR
ERLBEETOASENEIMNE
F(BRATES FRTESFNE
VHEATER) RRAKERAER
MARHZARNHERRZANE
BEE : H()ARBEEAKERT
MEMER  EXEM - DHE -
EBE - HER - REAEF -
EBEH HEABNMRBHEER
(AIRBERETRET)  ARBEXR
REBD (TR 1) -

R zBRECARKL B HEFT
28RN - IRIBEAREER D
MBREM S RO EBE - EE
B IR NS EBRAR R EBETRA
10% ° BR FEAR 3% £ 70 45 Al A9 4% 7€ BX
BARRABEROHAE - BAERA
THEEM121E A R ER N BR
BAEEOBENESHEE - TEE
AR Em1I2EARERR -BAR
BIE#ETRMO1% °
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

Options may be exercised during such period (including the
minimum period, if any, for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised) as may be determined by the Board
(which shall be less than ten years from the date of issue of the
relevant option). Options may be granted without initial
payment except the payment of HK$1 as consideration for
grant of option each time. The exercise price is equal to the
highest of (i) nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant; and (iii) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five

business days immediately preceding the date of the grant.

The following table discloses details of the Company’s options
granted under the Scheme held by employees (including

directors) and movement in such holdings during the year:

28. URESZNARS (&)

BEREAINEFEETNHR(ER
BRETEAMLAFANKEHR
(mAE)) 1T (ZHIE B A R R E
BIOTAMEFTEBEI10F) - KT
BXMABTERBRERBEREN
REN  BREANEHAELNS
MHROBRTEEL - TEEESER
THEEE : (VROEE: (i)kH
RELAMEBIAEARERMN
RERTE - R(inR £ R ER D
Ao AEZEXAEBXME AR
BRAREFHRME -

TREBFNER (DEEE)HA
180 3 B A 0 R 2 B AR B
BRESD :

Number of share options

BREHA

Outstanding

at 31 December

Exercise Outstanding Exercised 2013 and

price at 1 January during the 31 December

Category Date of grant HKS$ 2013 year of 2013 2014

R2013%

R2013% 128318k

THRE 1A1H 2013F  2014%12A31A

5l RHBH B e RATHE 2 Eii:d e RATHE
Directors 5 September 2008

£ 20089 H5H 1.872 66,666,668 (66,666,668) —

Exercisable at the end of
the year

NERATHEHE
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

The options granted on 5 September 2008 may be exercised in
accordance with the following terms of the Scheme as to:

(i)  upto 66,666,668 of the options exercisable commencing
1 September 2009 to 31 August 2013, with vesting
period from 5 September 2008 to 31 August 2009, the
fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$0.4075;

(i)  up to 133,333,332 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 September 2010 to 31 August 2013, with
vesting period from 5 September 2008 to 31 August
2010, the fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$0.48; and

(i) up to 200,000,000 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 September 2011 to 31 August 2013, with
vesting period from 5 September 2008 to 31 August
2011, the fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$0.5325, of which, 133,333,332 of
options were exercised during the year ended 31 March
2011.

The exercise of the options during the exercise periods
described in (i), (ii) and (iii) above, commencing from 1
September 2009 to 31 August 2013, are subject to
achievement of pre-determined and specific profit targets for
the Group for each of the years ended 31 March 2009, 2010
and 2011, respectively.

No share-based payment expense was recognised for both

years.

28. URESZNARS (&)

7 2008F 9 A5 HE I 2 BB Ax 1 7] AR
BETEI TG ITEDT ¢

(i)

(iii)

200949 A1HZE201348 A
31 B A[ 1T £ & % 66,666,668
I /B I i R EEITF Bl R
200849 A5H ZE 200948 A
318 - IREREARLEAE
HZRAREHF0.40758TT

20109 A1H=E201348 A
31 B A 1T# & % 133,333,332
I R B Ak i N EVE TR HA FR
20089 A5H Z201048 A
310 - GREBREEREAE
Bz ARBEHNR0ASHET &

2011493 1H=E201348 A
31 B A7 & % 200,000,000
% & B IR i R EE 1T Bl R
2008F9 A5H 20114 8A
31E - IREREARLEAE
A2 RARBEHA053258TT -
133,333,332 BEREDS
R201MFE3A31TBIEFEETT
fiF o

E2009F9H 1H#EZE201348H31
HER Eatr T BT L ak(i), (i)
RGiERER  BEERAEER®S
RIELZ20094F ~ 20104F K 201143
ABLEFESF2BAERBER
FEZE -

MEFEABRBESNEAEIA

°©
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29.

30.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include the bank borrowings and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital and

various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(i) Categories of financial instruments

29.

30.

BEARRE TR

AEBEREEANERAEEDN
ERAURERLERT  TEBRE
BEHEESLII RERTE ARM
REOE - AEENEBBRRERS
HEEF—H -

AEENERAGEBRFER B
BRETEEARAARAEDRFA
ANEERZ(BREBTRARZEA
) -

ARBEE TR ENERE - 1F
BERFAHN—ED  EEREEEN
RAAREEBEABRAORER -
REESENEZ  AEESBBIK
R ~ BT B E D A K
BITHEXRERRE T EHHLER]
AEERE

TRIA

(i) TEITEER

2014 2013
20144 2013%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHT
Financial assets ctRMEE
Fair value through profit or loss — BRARER ABE—
derivative financial instruments PTESRMIEA 45 12,733
Loans and receivables (including cash & Ft K & W 5118
and cash equivalents) (BREREeMREEEEY) 7,348,876 5,723,938
Financial liabilities Ea- =R
Fair value through profit or loss — BRANERAEZE —
derivative financial instruments MTEEmMIE 22,775 —
Amortised cost AR 16,168,605 13,863,744
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD) 30. I A (&)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BHEREBEEEOIRBEEK

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include a loan to
a joint venture, trade and other receivables, amounts due
from (to) related companies, derivative financial
instruments, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, amounts due to substantial shareholders and
bank borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(a)  Currency risk
The Group has foreign currency transactions, which
expose the Group to market risk arising from
changes in foreign exchange rates. In order to
mitigate the foreign currency risk, foreign currency
forward contracts are entered into by the Group for
certain material foreign currency transactions.

Management monitors other foreign currency

AEEMEZZSRITARES
EREER  EBRES REAMm
R - RN () BEE R ALK

B {THEemT A RTE%
kBRe EAHEZREME
Ko B EERRFIBRIRIT
BE oM TANFBERIEH
Mar#eE mZzEesIAS
BHRREEMSERR(EE
B RFERE)  EFERR

Ene &< Rk o {4 FiZ
ZRBMOBEREINET - E1
EERENMEEZERE - AE
REBERMRABEENE
itz

iR
(a) E¥mERE
AEBGFHEIINERZS - =
REEBERZINEERS
SRR TMHERERE - AT
FRESNE R - ANEER
ATERINER BETLHN
BrHeR - BEERE
PEREMINER R - I

exposure closely and will consider the use of ERAVEREREHMT
hedging instruments when the need arises. Ao
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 30. R T A (#)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BHEREBEEEOIRBEEK
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market risk (Continued) miZRR (&)
(@) Currency risk (Continued) (a) E®mEpR(E)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s significant REB RIS B I IELAE
monetary assets and monetary liabilities, excluding HMEEERNEEEE
intercompany balances and derivative financial ZEEEMEEREKSA
instruments, that are denominated in currencies E(REPARERRITE
other than the functional currency of the relevant TR TERRIN)HEREE
group entities at the reporting dates are as follows: U
Monetary assets (note): EHEE(ME)
2014 2013
20145 20134
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
HK$ BT 347,664 257,374
us$ X7 714,523 87,541
EUR 5T 74 28
Monetary liabilities (note): EkaE(KEE) -
2014 2013
20145 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FH&ET
HK$ BT 641,010 768,234
uss$ e 2,487,900 332,444
EUR B 477,195 576,234
note: The above amounts exclude HK$/US$ amounts where the Wit : FuieHmAREEBER
functional currency of the relevant group entities is US$/ ERhGEE® AET B
HK$ because HK$ is pegged to the US$, as a result of BT, ETE5E
which the exchange exposure is not significant. A TTEZETTES - Bt

WEEAELRR -
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(a)  Currency risk (Continued)

In addition, intercompany balances denominated in

30 &R T B (%)

(i) BERREEBNREE
(4%&)

EE1EAE )
(a) EEER(#E)
BESN - AN SHE 2 A B

foreign currencies are as follows: NEEREHRINT -
2014 2013
20144 20134
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Assets BE
uss$ ET 913,914 1,106,542
HK$ BT 29,896 350,624
RMB AR — 49,508
Liabilities =R
uss$ ET 913,914 1,106,542
HK$ BT 26,089 472,324
Sensitivity analysis BURRE DT
The Group is primarily exposed to the fluctuation of RNEFBZTEME BT A

EUR against HK$, and HK$ and US$ against RMB.

T MBLTERETEAR
KRBT E -
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(a)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following tables detail the Group's sensitivity to
a 5% (2013: 5%) increase and decrease in the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
against the relevant foreign currencies to the extent
that the exposures have not been hedged. 5%
(2013: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items (including
intercompany balances denominated in foreign
currencies) and derivative financial instruments and
adjusts their translation or fair value in the case of
the derivative financial instruments at the year
ended for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
On this basis, there will be an increase/decrease in
post-tax profit where the functional currency of the
relevant group entities strengthens against the
foreign currencies by 5%, and vice versa.

30. TR T A (%)

(ii)

(a)

SRR EEE N RBE

(%)

EE1EAE )
B (&)
BRE DM (&)
TR FF LN ER 8 3 S

HK$ BT
Us$ e
EUR BT

No sensitivity analysis for foreign currency forward
contracts has been presented as for the year ended
31 December 2014.

RRBAIBERT - HEEE
EERB s EEEEE
HEEINE AR TE5%
(20134 : 5% ) Hy B
J€ c 5% (20134 : 5%)
AHAREBEEEASE
3] L e B R R Y UK
EE  AEEERRINEG
EEMEIEA e EBIED
RFHE - BRES TR B
BN ENRENRE
BIEE (BENIINEEE
ZAREBRBER) RITE
SHMTE  ITREZEEH
BEBESAARE(A
ESRIAE) Uk
INMSTE RIS % B &) - £
FHMEET  EHEER
FEE e B K INEF
B5% + Fi1& 27 #8180
SR RZ IR e

Increase (decrease)
in post-tax profit

BERFEMORD)
2014 2013
201445 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
12,459 26,653
84,740 10,386
23,692 27,939

HZE2014F12A8318 1t
FEZINEREBA DB
EoMITEZT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s bank balances carry floating-rate of
interests and have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rates. However, the Group
considers that the bank balances are within short
maturity period, and the fluctuation in interest rate
and the cash flow interest rate risk arising from
bank balances are insignificant.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings. In
order to minimise the cash flow interest rate risk,
the Group entered into certain interest rate swaps
to partially hedge against its exposures to variable
interest rate of bank borrowings in prior years. The
Group considers that the interest rate of bank
borrowings is relatively stable and so no interest
rate swap was used to hedge the exposure to
interest rate risk in current year. The management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise.

30 &R T B (%)

(i) BERREEBNREE

(&)

EE1EAE )

(b)

P& E R
REERITHERIIES -
HRBRITHISH XK -
RITHEBAR RS RER
Ky o A - AEBER
RRRIRITHER IR
Hi - BWESRITAERSIHEY
MERBH LB REN X
L TERX o

AEBNTAAZEHTR
RITEENRESREN X
Rk - REREREN X
RERERE  NEBEE
BEFERLE TR
HARRITEENTER
RAETTE D B h o AEE
RRB|ITEEN N EIAY
RE > FIAERFERE
VAR 2= 12 50 S 0 R R
B o BRI EAE A KA b
RELREERHEERY
HREARNFEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 & Z2014F 1231 HIFF/Z

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. For variable-rate bank borrowings, to the
extent that they were not hedged by effective
instruments, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease in
interest rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

For bank borrowings at variable-rate of
HK$11,849,353,000 (2013: HK$10,959,109,000),
if interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2014 after taking into account the
capitalisation of borrowing costs using the
capitalisation rate of 3.5% (2013: 3.5%) would
decrease/increase by HK$33,052,000 (2013:
decrease/increase by HK$28,142,000).

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

30. TR T A (%)

(i)

PSR EEE N RBE
(%)

R 1= AP

(b)

B8

P& ER ()

FRE D

T BURE DT RIER
HERAREOTET AR
KEBEE © BhFEIRT
e E%FEENIH
BRI AEH - 5T TR
BRRBERRKKENEE
REFH/RENTHK
B4 o 50 £ B 48 H0 kR
REAMTIBEEARRE
R ) =K L i e R P Y UK
BiZx  BEEBAE
M & IR AT RE B RO RF A

B A& #11,849,353,000
# T (2013 4 :
10,959,109,00058 7T ) 2 /%
BIRITIEEME @ MAI=X
R TBS0EZ M
FiEE MBI -
R £ B B £2014 F12
A3IALFENBER
A& 5T R A& AL F R
35% (2013 & : 35%) &f
B2 ERLBERANE
1% R >/ # hn33,052,000
AT (20134 « A 1
HN28,142,0003% 7T )

S

M2014F 128318 - A% H
HAEFHAREBTEEIMER
MBBEANGREEERBRKE
FEMBRAREAINE D ®
REMEERRMEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD) 30. I A (&)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BXERESEBEMNREE

policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt
at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors consider that the

Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with good reputation.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.
Accordingly, the Group’s concentration of credit risk is

considered minimal.

In addition to the credit risk on trade debts, the Group is
also exposed to concentration on credit risk on its loan to
a joint venture. Because the Group’s involvement in the
management of joint venture, the Group is in a position
to monitor their financial performance and would take
timely actions to safeguard its assets and/or to minimise
its losses. Accordingly, management believes that the
Group's exposure to the credit risk associated with loan

to joint venture is low.

(&)

féﬁﬂ[ﬂﬁ(%)
EREEERR  K&EE
aﬁ%ﬁé&-@A;#m%
ER%E  EEEMUAREME
TR MR LS HEE
FEIR#EITE) o N - RNEHE
EREeNREHEARENSE
BIER 2 T El©5E - AR
HEEKESERRTARE
BB -t EERALEE
ZEERBE KK -

HRARXRZFTHREEFREY
ZIRTT MR BESZEER
fRBR -

AEENEYEZERRBIER
BEEPF  BMEZETENRMIE
@i o Hith - NREBEEPREE
[V B AR AR

BRTEESEBHNEER

%'K%lﬂAﬁﬁﬁﬁm
FESTEERR - BRAS%
E2EAEMENER  KE
@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁWME
WA B R KT ARERLE
El/SREEE - Bt &

EEREAKREEGTAED
XEFSIENEERRBE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 & Z2014F 1231 HIFF/Z

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

134

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative financial
liabilities, the tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group’s
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments.
The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted contractual net cash flows on derivative
instruments that settle on a net basis. When the amount
payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been
determined by reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of the
reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s
derivative financial instruments are prepared based on
the contractual maturities as the management consider
that the contractual maturities are essential for an
understanding of the timing of the cash flows of
derivatives.

30. TR T A (%)

(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 30. R T A (#)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) MBEREEBENREK
policies (Continued) (4&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mENE e Rk (&)
Liquidity tables MEE &K
Weighted Repayable Carrying
average  ondemand Total amount at
effective  orless than 3 months undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 1month  1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years cash flows 2014
S g #2045
ERAIE EEREXRD 3f8A ReRE 12A31A
ELHE SM{ER 123188 £y k3 1855 = ZEHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET Ti#x T FET TET
31 December 2014 20145128318
Non-derivative financial {74 ¢REE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ~ [EFFZ 5 &
EERR 1,695,358 998,907 369,247 3,063,512 3,063,512
Amounts due to substantial &+ B R FE
shareholders 240,568 240,568 240,568
Amount due to arelated  FE(SEEE N EFUR
company 3,736 3,736 3,736
Bank borrowings RITEE
- variable rate -%8 ¥ 3,295,008 738,288 2,875,542 6,582,265 13,491,103 12,860,789
5,234,670 1,737,195 3,244,789 6,582,265 16,798,919 16,168,605
Derivatives fETR
- net settlement -BERNK
Foreign exchange forward ~ SME R EA 4)
contracts 14,190
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueD) 30. R T A (#)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BHEEBEEEIRBEEK
policies (Continued) (4&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEESRER(E)
Liquidity tables (Continued) TEELK(E)

Weighted Repayable Carrying
average on demand Total amount at
effective or less than 3 months undiscounted 31 December

interest rate Tmonth  1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years cash flows 2013
AR R2013F

EREFE EERERL 3f8A Beme 12A318
T SR1EAR 1Z3(8A E1F 125F At ZEEE

% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B THET TET TAR TAR TET TET

31 December 2013 2013%128318
Non-derivative financial {74 ¢REE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ~ JEfZ 5 )&
HiSRHR — 1,701,612 848,760 336,315 — 2,886,687 2,886,687
Amount due to a substantial & 2 F 5B
shareholder — 5,642 — — — 5,642 5,642
Amounts due to related  FENBEE N EFE
companies — 12,306 — — — 12,306 12,306
Bank borrowings RITEE
- variable rate -38 217 2,168,013 1,057,026 2,480,094 5,559,213 11,264,346 10,959,109
3,887,573 1,905,786 2,816,409 5,559,213 14,168,981 13,863,744
Derivatives fTETR
- net settlement -3ELE
Foreign exchange forward 9N R EIA 4)
contracts - — - - - - —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

30 &R T B (%)

(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BHEEBEEEIRBEEK
policies (Continued) (4&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBEERAR(E)
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause B 75 I ZE SR IR R 2 R 1T
are included in the “on demand or less than 1 month” BER FMRBB\BE DA
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 [EERERSIDMIER ]2
December 2014 and 2013, the aggregate undiscounted BAME - R 20144F %2013 F
principal amounts and carrying amounts of these bank 12A318 - ZERTERZ
loans amounted to HK$1,928,904,000 and AWMBEASRERELED
HK$2,024,701,000 respectively. Taking into account the Bl A 1,928,904,000 % 7T &
Group's financial position, the directors do not believe 2,024,701,000% 7T ° & & 3
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their RAEBZHBRR - EFHE
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. B RITPARAEITERE
The directors believe that such bank loans will be repaid o BRAEERER - &
after the reporting date in accordance with the following EHE - REFRITEEBHRAE
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan MEBBMcEREERBEMA
agreements: HoEERBBEENAT
Bank borrowings subject to repayment on demand clause M e 2SR B RIER 2 RITHE
based on scheduled repayments: ERHEEENRD
Weighted
average Total
effective Less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1month  1-3 months to 1year cash flows amount
BBRR= 38R RITR
EFIH DSRUEA 12318 A Z1F BEREAF BREE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Rl FiET T TR TR TR
Asat 31 December 2014 #20144 124318 205 1,753,743 106,957 73199 1,933,899 128,904
Asat 31 December 2013 #20134 124318 217 1,358,075 442,458 233977 2034510 2,024,701
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 30. &I B (&)
(iii) Fair value (iii) 2 RE

Fair value measurements recognised in the R BIRR R ER L AR ER
statement of financial position 2

This note provides information about how the Group AMFREAEENFEET
determines fair values of various financial assets and AemEERERBEAAE
financial liabilities. ZER

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial rEEBRLEMEERSRE
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each BEREMEHRE QAL EE
reporting period. The following table gives information 2o TRREHBUAEEZES
about how the fair values of these financial assets and MEEREREBEAAENE
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the BLCEGFAFRAERMERZ
valuation technique(s) and inputs used). KI5 °

Fair value as at

Financial assets/ 31 December 2014  Fair value Valuation techniques

financial liabilities A2014%128318  hierarchy and key inputs

SREE SRAE ZRARE A REHH REFRANREEMRE

Foreign currency forward contracts ~ Assets — Level 2 Future discounted cash flows
classified as other derivative HK$45,000 FE4 are estimated based on the
financial instruments on the Liabilities — applicable forward foreign
statement of financial position HK$22,775,000 exchange rates.

INBERHIG NI RAERS TR BE— RRATERIR M E JIENE
REMITESRIA 45,000/7T NS R EAE B E

BE-

22,775,000 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(iii) Fair value (continued)

(iv)

Fair value measurements recognised in the
statement of financial position (Continued)

Fair value as at

30 &R T B (%)

(iii)

DREE)

RMBHRRKERZ XA ER

B(#&)

Financial assets/ 31 December 2013 Fair value Valuation techniques

financial liabilities M2013%12H318  hierarchy and key inputs

CREE eRARE AN DrERs HEFTARFEEEE

Foreign currency forward contracts ~ Assets — Level 2 Future discounted cash flows
classified as other derivative HK$12,733,000 FH are estimated based on the
financial instruments on the BE— applicable forward foreign

statement of financial position 12,733,000/ 7T

SN A MR IR R D 4R
REMITESRTA

The directors consider the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate to
their fair values.

Financial assets and financial liabilities
subject to offsetting, enforceable master
netting agreements and similar
agreements

The disclosures set out in the tables below include
financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to
an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar
agreement that covers similar financial instruments,
irrespective of whether they are offset in the Group’s

consolidated statement of financial position.

(iv)

exchange rates.

RRSTBRBRSREDHENE

RSNEEIEEGEE
EZRANGAVBRRE R

AN
BERSBRABREBHFEKAZ
W EmMEREEARE -

Y THTRFHEEER
ZHRBUBZRET 2E8
EEREHMAE

TERBEBEEBRERATNITERFRE
BEZHIEUBRE T 22
REERERAEE  XLO&
ZRUEemMTIE  TwWHERS
ERAKBGAPBRRKRY
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 & Z2014F 1231 HIFF/Z

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 30. ®® T A #)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) %8 AIHTREEER
subject to offsetting, enforceable master ZHRELHZRET 2/
netting agreements and similar EERSREEE
agreements (Continued)

Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master FHE  RIMITRFESEEL
netting arrangements and similar agreements BRI GEE T 2 A E
As at 31 December 2014 "2014512H31H8

Gross amount  Net amounts
of recognised of financial

financial assets
liabilities presented
set off in the inthe  Related amounts not set off
consolidated  consolidated in the consolidated statement
statementof  statement of of financial position
financial N BERGEHERRE
Gross amounts position position HECRBLE
of recognised iy R&& Cash collateral
financial assets BBtRR BERRE Financial received Net
BRISH HEERR %2 instruments BlES amount
Description RE BEAE CRSESE SMEETE (TESRIR il BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAn TiEx T TAR TAn Tiax
Bank balances idiE 226 - 226 - — 226
Derivative ITEeREE
financial assets
-Foreign curency  —JMEREAL)
forward contracts
Total At
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 30. R T A (#)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) S8 IHTEFHELEE
subject to offsetting, enforceable master ZHRELHZRET 2/
netting agreements and similar EERSREEE
agreements (Continued)

Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master FEHE - AT FREE X
netting arrangements and similar agreements (Continued) HREUNHZEE TN 2 fEE
(&)
As at 31 December 2013 72013F12H31H
Net amounts
Gross amount of financial
of recognised assets
financial liabilities presented
setoff in the inthe  Related amounts not set off
consolidated ~ consolidated i the consolidated statement
statementof  statement of of financial position
financial financial TENTARBIRAR
Gross amounts position position YRR
of recognised oty Nty Cash collateral
financial assets BEMRRR EMRRR Financial received Net
BRARR  HE/EER 22 instruments BhEe amount
Description w2 EEBE CSRRELE  SRAETE  (14ERIA B e

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thr Thr TR ThL Thr Thr

Bank balances RITER 2,145 - 2,145 - - 2,145
Derivative TEERER
financial assets
-Foreigncurrency  —SMEREIAL
forward contracts 12,733 - 12,733 — — 12,733
Total At 14,878 - 14,878 — — 14,878
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE B AR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 Z Z2014%F 12431 H 1L F/Z

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinuED) 30. ®® T A #)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) 588 THITRFELEE
subject to offsetting, enforceable master ZHREBEUBRET 2/
netting agreements and similar EERSREEE
agreements (Continued)

Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable TFEHE - ATRTTHFRBE X
master netting arrangement and similar agreements HEREUNGHFE T < 2ME R
As at 31 December 2014 "2014512H31H8

Gross amount  Net amounts
of recognised of financial
financial liabilities
assets set presented
off in the inthe  Related amounts not set off
consolidated  consolidated in the consolidated statement
statementof  statement of of financial position
Gross amounts financial N BERGEHERRE
of recognised position position HEvERLE
financial N R&4& Cash collateral

liabilities BBtRR BERRR Financial received Net

BRASH HECERER %2 instruments 2B amount

Description RE SEAE SHNEESE CSREETE f4eRIA il FE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAn TAn TAn ThR TAn TAn

Derivative iz
financial liabilities
-Foreigncumency  —JMEREAL
forward contracts (22,775) (22,775)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

31. OPERATING LEASES 31. KREHEN
The Group as lessee SBEEREEA

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings,

which fall due as follows:

R|ER - NERERE A B
M REFREEEONBEEN
W& ERESOT

Within one year

In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EERFN

2014 2013
20145 2013%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FET
2,807 3,778
- 521
4,299

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for lands and certain of its office properties. For
leasehold lands, leases are negotiated for terms ranged from
one year to five years with fixed rentals. For office properties,
leases are negotiated for terms ranged from 6 months to 1 year
with fixed rentals.

The Group as lessor

During the year ended 31 December 2014, rental income in
respect of office spaces and certain shops and staff quarters in
the PRC was HK$1,919,000 (2013: HK$1,994,000) and
HK$314,000 (2013: nil), respectively. Leases are within one to
three years.

REMeEASER T REET
MAEMERMNOES - HELH
KREBBENE -—FEZ0F M
ETE - MAETMELEEEIHG6
BAZE1E AR TE -

SEESHBEA

REZE2014F12A31BILEFE - B
BHRENRAERETEHEMET
BEMESKADHR A1,919,000
BT (20134 & 1,994,000 1) &
314,000 7T (20134 : &) o A4
BHE—E=ZFR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

31. OPERATING LEASES (conminueD) 31. BEHN#E)
The Group as lessor (Continued) SEEREBEANE)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted ERBREHKR  AEEEHBFLE
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments: IR BEEMNNKEESR -
2014 2013
2014%F 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER THET
Within one year —F R 2,166 1,940
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EERFA 4,060 -

6,226 1,940

32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 32. BEAEIE

2014 2013
201445 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT

Capital expenditures contracted for PEETHERNERE U ERER S
but not provided in the consolidated BEEETNBENEARRY
financial statements in respect of
acquisition of:

— property, plant and equipment —E - WENMEE 1,894,873 1,624,846
—land use rights — T R 135,476 154,275

2,030,349 1,779,121

In addition, at 31 December 2014, the Group had a AN » R2014F 12 A31H » K&
commitment to provide an additional loan of HK$33,110,000 B & & 4 T 88 90 33,110,000 %8 T
(2013: HK$40,910,000) to its joint venture. Details of loan (20134 : 40,910,000/ 7T) 2 B
terms disclosed in note 17 ii). THEEMRE o BRI N

17(ii) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

33. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 33. WBEERAE
On 11 November 2014, the Group entered into a sale and M2014FE 11 B11 B » REBBEK
purchase agreement with two substantial shareholders of the NAIMMNEEREET —DEEW
Company to acquire the entire issued capital and shareholder’s # - LLRFT{E404,200,000% 7T
loan of Guang Kai at an aggregate cash consideration of WA E2BEETRARKRRE
HK$404,200,000. The principal assets of Guang Kai and its Ko kI REWNBRAZEEZEE
subsidiaries are the tissue paper manufacturing plant and REERBERE RZHE - NAK
equipment. At the time when the Group obtain control over EmMG Il ciEslER  £ERRE
Guang Kai, the production lines were at installation stage. The THEE - WHBEUKRBEER
acquisition has been accounted for as an acquisition of assets BEAER-
and liabilities.
The consolidated net assets acquired was summarised as Frifi e T EEMMMT ¢
follows:
HK$'000
FAT
Net assets acquired: WHEFEE -
Deposit paid for acquisition of BB (AR
land use rights FritaT & 12,500
Plant and equipment = R 354,713
Inventories 7E 6,225
Other receivables JAEE U5 L th AR 3K 19,107
Bank balances and cash RITHEB LIRS 50,442
Trade and other payables FETE 5 K H Ath AR 5K (12,391)
Bank import loans RITHAOBERK (26,396)
Total consideration satisfied by cash AEHIBERE 404,200
Net cash outflow arising on the acquisition of 7 i@ Ui B¥ i /B A 7] 3| #£ 189
assets and liabilities through acquisition of WEEERBBEHRSFRD
subsidiaries:
Cash consideration paid 2NREERE 164,150
Less: bank balances and cash acquired B NEBRITER RIS (50,442)
113,708
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B3 AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

33.

34.

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2014, HK$240,050,000 of the
consideration was not yet settled and was included in amounts
due to substantial shareholders in the consolidated statement

of financial position.

Included in the profit for the year is HK$7,298,000 attributable
to the tissue paper manufacturing business generated by
Guang Kai. Revenue for the year includes HK$74,413,000
generated by Guang Kai. Had the acquisition been completed
on 1 January 2014, total group revenue for the year would
have been the same and profit for the year would have been
decreased by HK$10,791,000. The directors of the Company
consider these 'pro-forma’ numbers to represent an
approximate measure of the performance of the combined
group on an annualised basis and to provide a reference point
for comparison in future periods.

NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group’s acquisition
of property, plant and equipment was settled through transfer
of deposits paid in the prior years to the extent of
HK$115,964,000 (2013: HK$115,781,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group's acquisition
of assets and liabilities was settled through current account
with substantial shareholders to the extent of HK$240,050,000
(2013: Nil).

33.

34.

WEEENREE#)

2014 F 12 A 31 B CRFE]
240,050,000 8 TR ENRZ T R
EREEHRAMBRARAENSE
ERFEHRIES o

FERMNDERLHEEAREER
7,298,000 LIy LI ELE - FR
WA B 4E74,413,0007 ST B Y SV E
o REBWEBENR2014F1H1H®
K FEEEBRAKTERFA
BF# R 210,791,000 7T - KA
RESFRALSEHEZHRTRFEER
EETEHEBRRBEOMOTE -
MAERREBBERELREE -

FRERF

REE2014F12A31BIEFE -
TEBBEME BEER
2 115,964,000 & jt ( 2013 F
115,781,000 7C) D BEFEH
BT EE -

MREZE2014F12A31BIEFEE » K
SESATERAZAREKBEBE
E K& A EFIEE 240,050,000 5T
(20134 : &) o
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R e MR E ()

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

35. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 35.

DISCLOSURES

During the year, the Group had significant transactions with
related parties, certain of which are also deemed to be
connected parties pursuant to the Listing Rules. Significant
transactions with these parties during the year are as follows:

(i) Related and connected party transactions

HENREEALRE

FRAEEERBAL(ETAL
IR R B AR BB AR R AR AR 1 R R SE
ADVETERRS - FREZEA
THETHEARZWOT ¢

(i) MHEKBEEALXRS

2014 2013
20145 2013%
HK$'000 HK$'000

THT TEL

Name of parties Nature of transactions
BEALER XaME
LMIML (as defined in note 20) Finished goods sold by the Group
BYEX(TEBN20) SEHERNM
Electricity and steam fee received
by the Group

REZRRENZBA

Raw materials purchased

by the Group
SERERK
Other materials purchased
by the Group
SEBEHMMH
Lee & Man Paper Products Company Licence fee expenses incurred
Limited (note i) by the Group
BYHmARAR(HE) SEFAEEXH
Jiangsu Chemical (as defined in note 20) Income from supply of steam and
IECI(ERRMTE20) electricity

}IE{/\ Ek&@j]ZLBU\

Raw materials purchased by the Group

SEEERM
Rental income of office spaces

WAEHEES WA

Jiangxi Lee & Man Chemical Limited (note i) Electricity and steam fee paid
TEE X TAR A (i) by the Group
SEENBEEREARRBE

Nippon Paper (as defined in note 20) Technical assistance fee expenses
BARM(ER R M:T20) incurred by the Group
SERMEREX W

46,351 53,716

3,482

823

14,947

1,811

76,667

4,782

1,994

17,689

8,321
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For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

35. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 35. HHEARBEEALIRE &)
DISCLOSURES (conmivueD)
(i) Related and connected party transactions (i) HBERBEALRZ(#E)
(Continued)
notes: B EE -
(i) The company is indirectly wholly owned by the spouse of Mr Li (i) ZRARARARNEESTER BB A
King Wai Ross (a director of the Company) who is also a daughter RARREIERBRREFTERLEZ LR
of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, the ultimate controlling shareholder ME2EHESR -

of the Company.

(i) The company is beneficially owned and controlled by Mr Lee Wan (i) ZRARRRARKERBRRFERL
Keung, Patrick, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the EERHE RIE -
Company.
(ii) Related and connected party balances (i) HERBEEALGER
Details of the Group's outstanding balances with related RNEEEAEHE A TR EIN A
parties who are also the connected parties are set out in EATZREBEHFABDH
the consolidated statement of financial position and note R EE BRI K KM
20. 20
(iii) Compensation of key management (iii) TEEEE XS FHMN
personnel
The remunerations of the directors and other members EEREMETEEREXNER
of key management during the year were as follows: FRZHME0T

2014 2013

20144 20134

HK$'000 HK$’000

FHET FAET

Short-term benefits EIEF 34,242 13,315
Post-employment benefits RKAEF 17 15

34,259 13,330

148 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2014 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REUBmRMWE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2014 £ Z2014F 12 H31H It F/E

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 36. KAREEMEBRAFE

OF THE COMPANY

KRB ETEMMBARR2014F K&
201312 A31AMEBHT ¢

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2014 and 2013 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

Nominal value of
issued and fully paid

establishment/ registration share capital/
and operations registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries SREL/ R/ BRTRARRAEE/ held by the Company Principal activities
WEARER BEREELY EMER ARAFEEEELA TEEH
Directly Indirectly
i 3
2013
20135
Able Advance International Limited British Virgin Islands (note i) Ordinary shares-US$4 = Investmentholding
RERRER () LAR-4E7 REER
Lee & Man Industries Company Limited  British Virgin Islands (note i) Ordinary share - US$1 100%  Investmentholding
RRERHE () ERR-1%0 bl

Vantage Dragon Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares - HK$2 100%  Investmentholding

HMERRAR i LAR-28% RERR

Lee Kwok (Macao Commercial Offshore)  Macau MOP100,000 100%  Procurement of raw
Trading Limited M #P1%100,0007T materials

ME(RFREEXRE) RBRH
BFERAA

RRENERHERAR PRC (note i) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(IR=2%)) ol (i ki) -US$156,480,000 trading of paper
(Dongguan Lee & Man FMER RULERES
Paper Factory CoLtd) —156,480,000% 0
("DongguanLee&Man")

BREEABRAR PRC (note i) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(TBxEX) P (ki) - US$680,000,000 trading of paper
(Guangdong Lee & Man Paper Fdig-w RALERES
Manufacturing Limited)(" GuangdongLee —680,000,000% T
&Man")

TEECERBRAR PRC (noteii) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(IT&Ex) P (ki) -US$393,000,000 trading of paper
(Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Fdig-w REEERES
CompanyLimited) (" iangsu Lee & Man”) —393,000,000% T

EREERERDA PRC (noteii) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(ES §=9)) R (F zti) - US$420,260,000 trading of paper
(ChongaingLee & Man Paper #ftEx and pulp
Manufacturing Limited) ~420,260,000% T RERAFEERES

("Chongging Paper”)

BIGEREBERAT 2014 3R
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36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 36. AABEEMBRRFE &)
OF THE COMPANY (conTINUED)

Nominal value of

Place of incorporation/ issued and fully paid
establishment/ registration share capital/
and operations registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiaries ERAL/HRL/ ERTRARREIEE/ held by the Company Principal activities
KEARER ERREELY ERER ERARBRERLA ITER
Directly Indirectly
B Bz
2013
20135
TEEERRRAT PRC (note i) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(JiangyiLee & Man Paper Manufacturing ¢ Bl (¥ i) -US$100,000,000 trading of paper
Limited) HRER FAEEREH
~100,000,000% 7T
ERENEERAREERARA PRC (note i) Registered capital - Manufacturingand
([ERELH)) (B £Ei) -US$30,000,000 trading of tissue
(Chongging Lee &Man Tissue HMER products
Manufacturing Limited) ~30,000,000%7C EEBEREERES
("Chongging Tissue")
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Vietnam US$64,478,874 100%  Manufacturing and
Limited e 64,478 874X T trading of paper
RELERES
notes: (T
(i) These companies operate in Hong Kong. (i) RERNREBEBEE-
(i) These companies are foreign investment enterprises established in the (i) ZERRAAEPEKLZIIEERE D
PRC. E
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in FRINHBEEFRATEZELRSE
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or EXENEERAENARRDTMNE
assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other NE-EBEEZRR - JIHEMHMER
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in AINFBEEAKTEBNRILE -

particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at RERKFREMER - SHEQ
the end of the year, or at any time during the year. AMEAMNREENERES
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

R B B B AR AR

A summarised statement of financial position of the Company as at A2 &R 20144 % 2013412 A31 0 2 8t

31 December 2014 and 2013 is as follows: AR R BT
2014 2013
201445 20134
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Investments in subsidiaries NG E =, 637,977 637,977
Amounts due from subsidiaries I ENGIE S 9,503,994 7,382,181
Bank balances SRITHE R 4,868 3,098
Total assets BEHEE 10,146,839 8,023,256
Other payables JE 1<) EL At BR 3K 6,331 4,256
Unsecured bank borrowings EILRIRITIEE 4,966,879 2,783,238
Total liabilities BEBE 4,973,210 2,787,494
5,173,629 5,235,762
Share capital R& A 116,750 117,402
Reserves HE 5,056,879 5,118,360
Total equity 1B RS 5,173,629 5,235,762
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

RN T BB E ()

Note: Ft3E -
(i) Movement in reserves (i) fHEEE
Share
Share options  Contributed Retained Total
premium reserve surplus profits equity
BRGEE  BRERE BR2% BERR ERaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2013 20134%F1A1H 4,624,592 35,450 634,977 21,470 5,316,489
Exercise of share options 1T EE AR 158,583 (35,450) — — 123,133
Shares repurchased and cancelled Sy AT (307,763) — — — (307,763)
Profit for the year FERBF — — — 564,697 564,697
Dividends recognised as distributions ¥R A 2 I B — — — (578,196) (578,196)
At 31 December 2013 20134 12H31H 4,475,412 — 634,977 7,971 5,118,360
Shares repurchased and cancelled e AT R (110,496) — — — (110,496)
Profit for the year FERHF — — — 708,562 708,562
Dividends recognised as distributions ¥R A K 2 I B — — — (659,547) (659,547)
At 31 December 2014 20145 12R31H 4,364,916 — 634,977 56,986 5,056,879

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference AR A T Z BEEE 4 TIANAT)EB20034E9
between the aggregate net tangible assets of the subsidiaries HBrz&EBE&AMKEZHBATZBFE
acquired by the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in  E F{E42%8 AN &) gtz WS M 317 2 0%
September 2003 and the nominal value of the Company’s shares  ARE{E 7 Z%8 o

issued for the acquisition.
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